Abilene Christian University
Digital Commons @ ACU

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

7-2021

# A Study of the Association of Teacher Efficacy and Students' Achievement in a North Texas School District

Ruth E. Schackmann rua98t@acu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.acu.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons, Educational Leadership Commons, and the Junior High, Intermediate, Middle School Education and Teaching Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Schackmann, Ruth E., "A Study of the Association of Teacher Efficacy and Students' Achievement in a North Texas School District" (2021). Digital Commons @ ACU, *Electronic Theses and Dissertations.* Paper 394.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ ACU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ ACU.

This dissertation, directed and approved by the candidate's committee, has been accepted by the College of Graduate and Professional Studies of Abilene Christian University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

# **Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership**

Nannette W. Glenn, Ph.D.

Dr. Nanette Glenn, Dean of the College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Date 08 / 03 / 2021

**Dissertation Committee:** 

John Kellmayer

Dr. John Kellmayer, Chair

Karen Mapwell

Dr. Karen Maxwell

Dr. Scott Strawn

Abilene Christian University

School of Educational Leadership

A Study of the Association of Teacher Efficacy and Students' Achievement in a North Texas School District

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership

by

Ruth E. Schackmann

August 2021

# Acknowledgments

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my committee chair, Dr. John Kellmayer, who expected the highest academic standards for this research and writing and guided me with optimism and encouragement. Without his persistent guidance and help this dissertation would not have been possible.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Karen Maxwell and Dr. Scott Strawn, who were engaged and available to me to ask questions about concepts and details of research and writing. They demonstrated to me that every student in every situation is the utmost concern for each educator.

In addition, my husband, Randy Schackmann, my son, Harrison, and his wife, Alyssa Allton, my son, Hunter Allton, and my dear mother, Charlotte Earp, were constant joy and help to me. Thank you for the prayers and comfort.

© Copyright by Ruth Schackmann (2021)

All Rights Reserved

#### Abstract

The field of education places great importance on measurable student achievement and the role of teaching competencies for maximizing success. Whereas much focus has been given to professional development and improving teachers' skills, this quantitative study examined whether teachers' self-efficacy and judgment of their skills and capabilities were significantly associated with improving student achievement in third grade reading. This dissertation involved a study of teacher self-efficacy using a sample group of third grade English/Language Arts teachers from one Texas urban school district. Targeted teachers were invited to complete a valid and reliable teacher efficacy survey, the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale. The results of each teacher's self-efficacy score were correlated with their students' reading scores on two assessments: the Measures of Academic Progress and the Fountas and Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment. The study results indicated there was not a statistically significant association between teacher self-efficacy and the reading scores of their students. The results were unexpected because the outcomes were different than those reported in the literature. The COVID-19 pandemic created challenges. One was that student reading scores were from the 2018–19 school year; the teacher self-efficacy scores were collected during 2020– 21. The 2019–20 and 2020–21 school years were disrupted by the pandemic, and students were asked to complete the two assessments virtually from their homes with no supervision. Many students did not complete the assessments, including many minority and at-risk students. The research design did not allow an exploration of how teachers' overall emotional and professional feelings of efficacy may have been different because of the pandemic.

*Keywords:* general education, normed assessment, reading tests, standards-based assessment, students' academic growth, and teacher efficacy

Acknowledgments	i
Abstract	iii
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Purpose Statement	3
Research Questions	4
Definition of Key Terms	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
Literature Search Methods	11
Conceptual Framework	
Personal Mastery	14
Mental Models	16
Teacher Efficacy Measure	16
Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale	
(TSES)	18
Master Teachers Use Systems-Thinking	20
Goals and Standards	22
Goals and Teacher Efficacy	23
Personal Example of Teacher Efficacy	24
Effective Teachers Build Students' Metacognitive Understanding	25
Differentiation: The Ethical Choice	25
Teacher Efficacy and Reading Fluency Assessment	27
Teachers Efficacy in Building Reading Fluency	28
Reading Tests	29
Rasch Scale of MAP Test Results Units	32
Teachers Act Intentionally	33
Shared Vision	33
Systems-Thinking	34
Collaboration	35
Collective Inquiry	35
Educators Used the Vison to Refine and Improve Actions	36
Team Learning	38
Professional Learning Communities	38
Planned Interventions	39

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 3: Research Method	
Research Questions	
Research Design and Method	
Population	
Study Sample	45
Materials/Instruments	
Survey Administration	47
Preparing for the Survey	
Taking the Survey	
Following Survey Administration	
Survey Results	
Data Collection and Analysis Procedures	
Operational Definitions of Variables	
Teacher Efficacy	
Pearson Product Moment	
Data Analysis	
Ethical Considerations	
Assumptions	
Limitations	
Demographic	
COVID-19 Pandemic	
Professionalism	
Students' Testing Experiences	
Delimitations	
Third Grade	
General Education	
Attendance	60
Enrollment	60
Teacher Turnover	61
Summary	61
•	
Chapter 4: Results	
Research Questions	62
Statistical Analysis	64
Results	64
Summary	68
Chapter 5: Interpretations, Conclusions, and Recommendations	69
Thursda to Internal Malidian	<b>70</b>
Listomy	
nistory	
Iviaturation	
1 esung	/l 71
Instruments	/1
Statistical Regression to the Mean	/1

Differential Selection	72
Mortality	72
Summary of Findings	72
Interpretation of Findings	72
Implications of Findings	73
Limitations and Delimitations of the Study	74
Recommendations for Future Research	74
References	75
Appendix A: Author Permission to Use TSES	94
Appendix B: Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale	95
Appendix C: Directions for Scoring the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale	96
Appendix D: IRB Approval	98

# List of Tables

Table 1. STAAR Achievement for Grade 3 Reading Test	3
C C	
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Teacher Efficacy and Reading Improvement Scores	65

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Frequency of Fountas & Pinnell Letter Scores for Each Semester65
Figure 2. Frequency of Measures of Academic Progress Scores for Each Semester66
Figure 3. Teacher Efficacy and Change in Fountas & Pinnell Score
Figure 4. Teacher Efficacy and Change in Measures of Academic Progress Score68

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

The Texas Education Agency (TEA) and the state legislature upgraded the state's accountability standards to an A-F accountability rating rather than a traditional achievement only model after a decade of limited student academic progress. Educators and administrators have used the new system by tracking both achievement performance and students' academic growth with monitoring and continuous measurement (TEA, 2019a). The TEA has used students' progress from one year to another in conjunction with other data to determine a school district's accountability rating. The TEA then has generated a score based on each school's classification (TEA, 2018c, 2019a, 2020c).

Administrators have wanted to create schools with high accountability scores as an indication that the students they serve received high quality education (Bird et al., 2013; TEA, 2020a, 2020b). Numerous newspapers and online resources have reported that communities are less sure of low-rated schools and more confident in schools with the best or improved accountability ratings; there was evidence that some families have withdrawn their children from low performing schools (Ayala, 2017; Piedad, 2018; Raise Your Hand Texas, 2020).

Because improving test results and higher accountability ratings has coincided with increased public trust, educators have worked to increase students' academic growth with betterprepared teachers, better-implemented instruction, and a community-shared vision (Nicolae, 2014; Tomlinson & Murphy, 2015). One method to reach these goals was to foster teacher efficacy because research has shown that confident teachers were critical to improving education (Bedir, 2015; Çaycı, 2011). A crucial component of shifting a district into a high-quality education system with a resulting high accountability rating required gaining insight into how effective teachers believed they were in the classroom.

1

# **Statement of the Problem**

Based on current accountability results, efforts in curriculum building and pedagogy to improve instruction have not proven sufficient to ensure that every student achieved academic expectations (TEA, 2020). For one North Texas district, the B rating was important because student achievement had not progressed to an A rating despite continuous district efforts (Piedad, 2018; TEA, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c). The administrators' goal was to influence a learning environment of students' academic growth including supporting teacher efficacy as a valuable tool while working to improve students' academic growth (De Neve et al., 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Goddard & Kim, 2018). This research was important to the administrators of this district because if the hypothesis that there is an association between high teachers' efficacy and reading fluency, teacher efficacy training could be provided (Bandura, 2006; Hattie, 2012, Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

The district was rated by the TEA's accountability report as a B overall, with a B in *Student Achievement*, a B in *School Progress*, and a B in *Closing the Gaps* (TEA, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c). The report used Student Achievement to demonstrate how students performed in the annual end of the year test. School Progress was defined as the growth over time that students demonstrated compared to other demographically similar schools. How well the district served different populations determined the Closing the Gaps designation. Each component was important to the overall rating, but Student Achievement and School Progress made up 70% of the total rating (TEA, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c).

The *Meets Grade Level or Above* and *Masters Grade Level* sections of the Student Achievement section in elementary schools, particularly the third grade reading scores, were of particular importance to the rating. In the past two years, only 44% of the district's third grade students had performed in reading at grade level expectations or above (TEA, 2020c). Significant to this research was the lack of growth between the "approaches" and "meets" sections, -3%, and 0% growth (TEA, 2020c). The state education agency marked 0% growth as a decrease in the accountability system, so the lack of growth was important. Table 1 presents reading scores for third grade students on the state assessment in the district that was be the site of the research study.

# Table 1

# STAAR Achievement for Grade 3 Reading Test

Grade 3 reading levels	2018	2019	Change
At Approaches Grade Level or Above	79%	76%	-3%
At Meets Grade Level or Above	44%	44%	0%
At Masters Grade Level	25%	27%	2%

*Note*. Adapted from TEA, Texas Academic Performance Report 2017–2018 (TEA, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c).

District administrators did not use the State of Texas Assessments of Academic Readiness (STAAR) tests previous to 2018 because the shift to the accountability system included new standards, new test parameters, and new reporting requirements (TEA, 2018a, 2019a). Because of the changes, educators did not compare scores from year to year before 2018 (TEA, 2019a).

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there was a statistically significant association between the range of teachers' self-reported efficacy and third grade students' reading scores on two reading tests: Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment reading scores. To determine whether teacher efficacy or any other factors affected students' scores was not the purpose of this study. Though two events may occur close to each other in time, this does not imply that either event caused or affected the other (George Mason University, 2020).

# **Research Questions**

- RQ1: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement scores.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement.
- RQ2: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.

- RQ3: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP reading assessment achievement scores.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP reading assessment achievement.
- RQ4: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.

# **Definition of Key Terms**

The following terms are used throughout the study and will be relevant to the reader's understanding of the topic.

Accountability. For schools to meet accountability standards, they have been required to adhere to a set of federal, state, and local policies that mandated education systems to support assessments and show progress. Accountability has included the schools' ability to track and compare students' achievement from year-to-year (Parker Boudett et al., 2013). Accountability systems have been required to have three components:

- clearly defined and well-articulated standards,
- accurate, reliable, consistent measurement tools, and
- workable plans to use for schools, and students when improvement is needed (Teachnology.com, 2019).

Achievement (student achievement). Student achievement has been defined as the amount of educational material or content students learn or master during a defined period (Edglossary, 2019a; Parker Boudett et al., 2013). The time has been determined to be a school year or the length of an academic course. Teachers have measured achievement with criteria-referenced testing tools (Parker Boudett et al., 2013).

**Fountas & Pinnell oral reading assessments.** Teachers have used the Fountas & Pinnell Benchmark Assessment System (BAS) to document students' normed reading levels (Heinemann Publishing, 2020d). Educators monitored students' academic growth throughout the year and inputted the data into the Online Data Management System (ODMS) for easy accesses and multiple data layers (*F&P Text Level Gradient*, 2020; Heinemann Publishing, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c)

**General education.** General education has been described as a relative classification of study or academic courses for all students who do not have either a special education or advanced or gifted and talented designation (Merriam-Webster, 2020). Most students have been labeled within the general education category, and they also may have been classified into other

educational categories.

**Homogeneity.** Boone (2016) defined homogeneity of a tested trait as the combination of a test question's range of difficulty and the success of student's responses to that question. These were the only two elements of an internally valid measure (Boone, 2016). Using Rasch Units instead of adding demographically weighted measures in the response scale, the Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) test planners used homogeneity and counted every student equally. As a valid measure of students over time, MAP was more useful to this study.

**Interventions.** Interventions were planned instructional strategies teachers directed toward meeting the needs of a struggling student. Educators monitored the students' progress to support their academic growth and development (Lee, 2019).

**Measures of academic progress (MAP).** MAP was a computer-adaptive assessment that reported students' ability to understand and use specific skills after instruction. The resulting reports identified areas of students' strengths or needs, how students processed information, and what skills students were ready to learn (Northwest Evaluation Association [NWEA], 2016, 2017c; Wu, 2017). By using national norms tables, student performance was scored by Rasch units which reflected their mastery of skills throughout an instructional calendar year. Each question's difficulty registered incremental growth rather than the ability of a subject or skills (NWEA, 2015b).

Norm-referenced tests (normed / nationally normed). Normed tests have been designed to measure test takers on a relative scale, in relationship to the goal, task, or learning tested, and how others taking the same test performed (Parker Boudett et al., 2013). They were not designed to measure if a student has accomplished or mastered a specific standard or criteria (Edglossary, 2019a).

Professional learning community (PLC). A professional learning community has been

described as group of educators who understand the criteria students must master and agree on the methods and expected outcomes. Through collaboration, the PLC has demonstrated ongoing efforts to assess, adjust, and improve instruction for students' benefit (DuFour, 2015).

**Rasch units.** Boone (2016) contended that unlike a standards-based accountability raw scores on a scale with unknown spacing, the normed Rasch Unit based tests reflected homogeneity, the combination of the difficulty of a test question, and the student's response to that question. The range of answers was scored on a scale, 0–100. Researchers have used the Rasch scale to compare unidirectionality students' scores to their previous scores, so student's scores could be measured over time consistently (Boone, 2016). Boone noted that Rasch scores recorded how much of the trait has been mastered since the raw score is the sufficient statistic for the Rasch measure (Boone, 2016).

**Standardized test(s).** Standardized exams have been designed so that all test takers answered the same questions or groups of questions which teachers administered in some "standardized" format. The exams have produced understandable results and have provided scores in a consistent, reliable manner so that the test taker's relative performance may be assessed (Edglossary, 2019b).

**Students' academic growth**. Evidence of positive progress toward students' achievement goals in measured steps has been used to document students' academic growth. Students might or might not have fulfilled achievement goals; however, the evidence documented improvement over time (Marzano et al., 2012; Marzano et al., 2017; NWEA, 2015a, 2018b).

**Teacher efficacy.** Educators have defined efficacy as a teacher's confidence to handle personal and professional challenges (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Whereas this concept was based on an individual's conviction, efficacy relied on teachers spending substantial

effort pursuing their goals and persisting in the face of adversity, and their perception of their own instructional effectiveness. (Woolfolk Hoy, 2020). Researchers have proven efficacy as a factor in increasing students' academic growth scores (Hattie, 2012).

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES). The TSES was created by a cadre of researchers and educators because they thought they could make an adaptive, valid, and reliable teacher efficacy survey. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) reviewed eight previous surveys and the resulting studies to find the questions with the strongest correlation to environmental factors within teachers' locus of control and resulting confidence. They were successful and researchers have used the instrument to predict an association between teachers' confidence and students' academic growth (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). However, Lau (2015) wrote that "correlational studies are similar to comparative studies in that they take on an objectivist view where the variables can be defined, measured, and analyzed for the presence of hypothesized relations" (p. 1), and researchers did not make any assumption of causality.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

In 2018, the Texas legislature recognized the lack of students' academic improvement and implemented a new accountability standard, the A–F rating (TEA, 2019a). To meet the new accountability system's expectations, educators counted incremental growth as significant as achievement on the yearly test, STAAR score (TEA, 2018c, 2019a, 2020c). The agency published results that showed that fewer than 75% of students read on-grade level (TEA, 2020c). Districts worked on various ways to meet student needs while also monitoring growth within the new accountability system (TEA, 2018c). Because there was an association between the efficacious teacher's work and their instructional systems supports in the literature, districts produced professional development that were designed to increase teacher confidence. These efforts were useful for districts that intended to improve instructional implementation (Bandura, 2006; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001) and supported districts' attempts to improved students' reading fluency (Tschannen-Moran & Johnson, 2011).

Texas school leaders examined the growing achievement problem that faced their students by reviewing educational literature regarding improving student achievement and growth. Researchers published an increasing number of studies, reports, and data that a prolonged lack of success among general education students was a significant concern (Ayala, 2017; Chávez et al., 2018). Specifically, research studies about teacher self-efficacy were critical elements schools used to develop professional development to improve instruction and learning. The goal was to meet each student's needs and implement interventions that improve assessment results (Kafele, 2016; Terada, 2016; Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Education literature researchers indicated that efforts to assess and improve teachers' self-efficacy was important in improving students' academic growth (Dixon et al., 2014).

Researchers reported that teachers who felt most confident made significant instructional

improvements, maintained ongoing monitoring, supported accountability, and built public confidence (Çaycı, 2011; De Neve et al., 2015; Dixon et al., 2014). Teachers who felt less capable did not implement effective instructional practices to intervene for at risk students (Dubas & Toledo, 2016; Kafele, 2016; Saunders, 2013).

## **Literature Search Methods**

Public-school administrators and teachers have wanted to provide students with excellent educations, but they faced challenges overcoming students' low academic performance. The goal of the literature review was to explain what researchers have determined about teacher efficacy and the associated with students' academic growth (Saunders, 2013). I had access to the library resources at Abilene Christian University including rigorous, peer-reviewed research and results from a wide variety of journals and education studies. Google Scholar online extension articles were used to extend research as needed.

The following keywords were used to find information for the literature review: accountability, diversity, fluency, instructional interventions, best practices, curriculum and technology strategies, general education, growth versus targeted achievement, individualized instruction, growth goals, leadership and differentiated instruction, normed assessment, personalization, reading tests, standards-based instruction and assessment, students' academic growth, and teacher efficacy.

Literature from educators, researchers, and writers explained transformative education elements, such as collaboration and shared goals when the campus creates intervention systems, were essential to improving instruction (Herrmann, 2019). Many studies documented results associating teacher efficacy with increased differentiation (Koehler, 2010) and other instructional interventions, so the search was expanded to include ideas such as effectiveness and equity for all levels of social, economic, and learning development (Dixon et al., 2014; Kafele, 2016;

#### Marzano et al., 2017).

### **Conceptual Framework**

My formulation of a theoretical framework began with Senge (1990), the author of *The Fifth Discipline*. He wrote about four elements and one metacognitive strategy that leaders used to make significant organizational changes. Later, he revised his text to include the work of educators in *The Fifth Discipline*. *The Art and Practice of the Learning Organization* (Senge, 2006). Throughout education literature, researchers echoed his core ideas and developed applications that guided educators' efforts to improve instruction.

In his seminal work, Senge (1990) explained that leaders must deepen an organization's vision, increase their sphere of influence, build a shared vision, and dialogue with team members to ignite positive thinking. Once they put these components in place, they were able to integrate *systems-thinking* and make all the elements flow together (Senge, 1990). He explained this complex idea with real-world examples of other authors' and researchers' work throughout education literature, for instance, systems-thinking connected to the work of prominent education writers, Dixon et al. (2014), Tomlinson and Moon (2013), and Hattie (2012). They wrote about a teachers' classroom influence and perseverance to face challenges and the vision that lead to an organization's improvement.

Senge (1990) wrote about each member's duty to self-discipline, to focus ideas, to develop patience, and to see reality objectively. Senge (1990) believed that organizations understood their world place and affect change when they challenged their "ingrained assumptions and generalizations" (p. 2). Hattie (2012) wrote that educators must realize that teachers are among the most potent educational influences. Hattie (2012) believed that educators' perceptions and actions matter because educators were responsible for creating change. Their intentional actions improve students' opportunities. Rodriquez (2013) equated

teachers' perceptions of their impact and their efficacy as valuable to their classroom effect in a slightly different direction when she wrote that a teacher's competence impacted their qualification to teach.

Tomlinson and Moon (2013) wrote that schools needed to transform opportunities for underrepresented students by using their influence to produce high-quality schools with administrators who understood and supported teachers who faced challenges in every context. In the past few years, academic diversity has increased dramatically, and heterogeneous grouping practices have affected teaching and learning (Gomez-Zepeda et al., 2017). However, equitable educational opportunities are integral to democratic ideals. Equitable education reflects Senge's (1990) writings about the role of shared vision and how by guiding others, everyone committed to substantial change.

To Senge (1990), team building and the capacity of members to "think together" was vital to the growth of the vision and critical to overcoming the challenges of organizational change (p. 2). Teachers must be aware of what each student knew and grasped before they taught content (Hattie, 2012). Dixon et al. (2014) wrote that teachers were responsible for every student's optimum educational experiences. Teachers differentiate and respond to students' needs by understanding the challenges students face (Dixon et al., 2014). They wrote that schools benefit students and the community when administrators support teachers' growth in knowledge and skills and provide a place and method for their talents to flourish. As a result, teachers persevere, face challenges, commit to taking action, and follow through with educating each child (Dixon et al., 2014).

In a 2006 update, Senge wrote *The Fifth Discipline: The Art and Practice of the Learning Organization.* He added a focus for educators and explained how school leaders used criticaland systems-thinking to analyze how the transformational elements interacted with one another to produce improvements in the complex system. Educators interpreted information and drew conclusions based on their best analysis. They reflected on their experiences and adjusted their goals in the process. Educators used critical- and systems-thinking to analyze how the transformational elements interacted with one another to produce improvements in the complex system. They identified and clarified various points of view which led to solving problems in a system. The systems effective teachers used are multidimensional (Senge, 2006). When students joined a class, effective teachers create egalitarian educations that moved students through learning, assessing, retesting, monitoring, and provide challenges and successes (Senge, 2006).

In the updated text, Senge (2006) contended that educational leaders who desired organizational change integrated systems-thinking in schools and implemented management components of *The Fifth Discipline* (Senge, 1990). They (a) clarified their vision, (b) saw things realistically, (c) acted, (d) shared an idea of the future with stakeholders, and (e) fostered authentic dialogue while using systems that align all the parts into a workable whole. Other educators, including Siry et al. (2016), likened their efforts to Senge's open dialogue with teachers and affected every student's education profoundly. They reported the result of their efforts as greatly beneficial to educational stakeholders, so these examples highlighted teachers' responsibility and capacity to persevere, challenge, and influence every aspect of education (Kafele, 2016). With intentionality, leaders promoted the best instructional environment for students and educators (Senge, 2006). Finally, they identified and qualified teacher efficacy as a potent element between students, teachers, and the community. Their research associated how confident teachers feel and the effect educators' attitudes has on students' academic outcomes (Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

# **Personal Mastery**

Senge (2006) wrote that personal mastery is vital to organizational change; change started

when each individual applied self-discipline and dedication. Hattie (2012) wrote that teachers implemented personal and professional discipline and perseverance, critical elements for teachers who mastered their personal growth to overcome the instructional challenges students faced. Dixon et al. (2014) connected to Senge's (2006) ideas when they wrote that when teachers understood how much diversity and mixed ability classes affect education. Educators understood the challenges, changed their actions, and developed new best practices (Herrmann, 2019; Kafele, 2016; Marzano et al., 2017). As the basis of teacher instructional efficacy, educational writers connected teachers' best practices to a community commitment used consistently (Senge, 2006).

Educators who transformed learning environments acted on creative ideas and implemented instructional developments (Ball & Forzani, 2013; Shanahan, 2013). They analyzed static mental models, refined old ideas, and elaborated new and worthwhile ideas (Senge, 2006). They were open and responsive to unique and diverse input and incorporate ideas from the group (Herrmann, 2019). They asked for and implemented feedback and used their experience and failures to build long-term innovation (Herrmann, 2019). They changed incrementally and radically to improve and maximize their efforts (Ball & Forzani, 2013; Shanahan, 2013). Rattan et al. (2015) wrote, teachers' efforts "reliably benefit students and therefore merit greater attention" (p. 721). The collective research on teacher efficacy provided evidence that educators' mental constructs matter (Saunders, 2013). When an educator had a closed mindset about students' abilities, intelligence, and willingness to work, they missed the opportunity to affect that student positively (Rattan et al., 2015). However, if teachers comprehended and separated their rigidity from the challenges they faced, they thought positively and looked for new outcomes despite any adverse circumstances (Bandura, 2006; Rattan et al., 2015).

# **Mental Models**

Senge (2006) wrote that educational leadership recognized that mental models were important in organizational change. When they faced with how well their actions met and overcame challenges, they discovered that rigid perceptions affected the outcome of circumstances. Hattie (2012) echoed that teachers' and students' mind frames determined their capacity to grow and develop. Bandura's Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale (TSES; 1993) and Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy TSES (2006) asked teachers to gauge their belief about whether they can improve students' educational opportunities. By addressing teachers' perceptions, mind frames, and mental models, researchers believed change was necessary and possible (Altintas & Ozdemir, 2015; Saunders, 2013). Saunders added that students' growth mindset had a positive relationship to their reading fluency, so teachers who understand the implication of motivating students can affect students' reading growth might have a positive association with their growth. Teacher efficacy was associated with improved reading scores.

# **Teacher Efficacy Measure**

While teacher efficacy was proven to be effective in supporting students academically, it had been difficult for researchers to find a valid, replicable instrument to measure teachers' perceptions of how effective they were in students' education. Bandura created his Teacher Self-Efficacy Instrument in the early 1980s; however, no validity or reliability results were available to researchers (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

To construct a valid version of Bandura's TSES, Woolfolk Hoy and Burke Sperob (2005) separated the professional attributes from individual attributes and investigated the instrument in three phases. They determined the factors of teacher self-efficacy and the relationship to Bandura's construct. They did a multi-train-multi-method analysis to determine if different sources were different from other constructs. They observed high- and low-efficacy teachers and

their classroom behaviors (Woolfolk Hoy & Burke Sperob, 2005). First, the researchers reported by using the Statistical Package of the Social Sciences (SPSS) factor solution and principal factoring (Field, 2013; Woolfolk Hoy & Burke Sperob, 2005). They determined that the individual items should be included in the factor structure. Second, they used trait tests for teacher efficacy, verbal ability, and flexibility and discriminated teacher efficacy from other constructs (Woolfolk Hoy & Burke Sperob, 2005). Third, they selected teachers with high and low personal efficacy and teacher efficacy and observed the teachers interacting with students. When students refused or failed to respond with correct answers, teachers who persisted were able to overcome students' hesitation or reteach missing skills. The researchers determined that the results of the three investigations validated Bandura's TSES. They found the significance of a teacher's belief that their interventions and innovations affected students' learning and mattered (Woolfolk Hoy & Burke Sperob, 2005).

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) started their research with the premise that research into teacher-efficacy scales had not been aligned with validity standards. They created the Ohio State Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale (OSTES) and tested it for reliability and validity. The research team started with the Bandura TSES and through three studies reduced the instrument items to discover which statements teachers felt they affected most (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). The items with less-favorable outcomes were discarded until the instrument was 18-items long. They reported that the shorter instrument was useful in determining novice, experienced, and master teachers' teacher efficacy. In a later study, Woolfolk Hoy and Burke Sperob wrote, "in the current study, based on the average score for the entire 30-item scale, the alpha coefficients of reliability were 0.94, 0.95, and 0.92 across the three administrations. Reliability was 0.94" (2005, p. 7).

# Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES)

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) published their study into constructing and validating a survey to measure teachers' self-efficacy. They stated that because many teacher efficacy surveys had significant measurement problems, they created a new, adaptive, and dynamic TSES to measure how confident teachers felt handling the challenges most teachers face. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) measured how well teachers thought they would do in the future with their adaptive and comprehensive measurement tool.

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) argued that researchers in the early 1970s and 1980s were stuck with two-factor teacher efficacy surveys. The first factor was how much influence teachers felt they had over external environmental factors, such as students' home environments or their family's poverty levels. The influence of these outside factors was compared to the influence of second-factor elements teachers controlled. For example, they explained how teachers demonstrated inner confidence in their ability to put in work and effort toward mastering their instructional craft or innovating their teaching discipline. It was significant when Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) reported that teacher efficacy definitions vary by the researchers they studied. They wrote that to put the studies they were sharing on an equal footing they adopted the concept that two elements would be measured: what any teacher did versus what outcome one teacher was confident to accomplish.

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) set up three studies to formulate a dynamic, adaptive, comprehensive measure of teacher efficacy. The teacher efficacy instruments they had access to had overlapping constructs, but some were too discipline-specific or far too general for teaching specific disciplines. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) set up a conference of teachers, researchers, and graduate students to talk about the instrument and the resulting data. In the first study, they found the same two-factor structure.

After creating TSES, Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) had created a long and short instrument, 24 and 12 items respectively that were a reasonable length and useful tools. They wrote and reformulated a broad range of questions about generally applicable teaching practices, but the resulting instrument was not too specific to render it useless. The reliability was 0.94 for the long instrument and 0.90 for the short form.

The analysis of various teacher efficacy instruments was broad and unbiased. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) examined eight survey instruments dated back to the mid-1970s to the early 2000s. They reported each instrument, constructs, and validity fairly. They explained the theories behind each instrument. For example, Guskey (2020) used the attribution theory and four factors for success and failure. There was a strong correlation (0.72–0.81) between the teacher assuming responsibility and their perceived efficacy. Bandura's (1993) TSES was based on social cognitive theory and the "beliefs in one's capacity to organize and execute the course of action required to produce given attainment" (p. 3).

The strength of these studies was that they sampled a wide variety of teacher efficacy instruments. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) used a broad range of theories to test the survey constructs, and they reported the results. When the OSTES was proven valid, they had an instrument that was not too broad nor too narrow, so it was useful to measure teachers' confidence as they face personal and generalized teaching situations.

The studies showed none of the weaknesses that researchers had associated with other teacher efficacy studies because the educators found correlations in the reliability and validity values. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) minimized their bias by reporting the construction and outcomes of teacher efficacy surveys and studies fairly. They followed study protocols for the three levels of investigation they used to validate their instrument. An advantage of this correlation study was that a large amount of information was collected in a

reasonable amount of time for all participants; however, no manipulation of variables occurred as would be expected in experimental research (Form Plus Blog, 2020). In this study, the TSES was used to determine that there was an association between teachers' efficacy surveys and their students' scores on the Primary Reading MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessments. Tschannen-Moran and Johnson (2011) wrote that for literacy instruction the socio-economic situation of struggling students was not related to their fluency scores. Any association was useful for this project but did not indicate causality.

#### Master Teachers Use Systems-Thinking

Rodriquez (2013) wrote that teachers' perspective was the "most important lens into the classroom" because master teachers (most efficient) recognized their perception as unique (p. 77). They used their understanding and insight to leverage teachers' innovations to shift learner's classroom system to the students' advantages. They thought about their view and their practice as necessary and practical.

By using systems-thinking, teachers saw learning as complex and systematic rather than linear time-constricted progression. By juggling multiple elements of differentiation and innovation, master teachers used systems-thinking to be responsive and dynamic (Rodriquez, 2013). Educators acknowledged all elements and managed the effect these influences have. Master teachers took it personally that they understood, adapted, and changed (Hattie, 2012; Rodriquez, 2013). For example, Rodriquez (2013) argued that if leaders created and organized teacher training to include systems-thinking in professional development teachers understood how important they were to the learning system. The teacher-centric view was like Hattie's (2012) idea that teachers affected all the classroom's educational elements.

Rodriquez (2013) interviewed 20 master teachers and published excerpts from those interviews. She tied students' improved outcomes to the essential points, skills and

organizational techniques, the teachers used to manage dynamic challenges. No one method was better than another, but Rodriquez pointed out that teachers responded to students on the fly by implementing systems wherein they accepted students' best responses and made tactical decisions to move positively.

An example of a master teacher using systems-thinking was Caitlin, who trusted her experience and wisdom about students as she taught them (Rodriquez, 2013). She believed her judgments were correct and acted accordingly. Another example was Bob, who pushed his students to give emotional responses, but he needed to do more (Rodriquez, 2013). Though Bob's method might not work for every teacher, Rodriquez (2013) wrote that these students responded because they thought he had their best interests at the core of his teaching. Bob reported that he was an excellent teacher because students overcame their hesitancy with his help and encouragement, and they performed higher than ever.

Rodriquez (2013) used every example to substantiate her claims that master teachers were systems-thinkers who use their tools and situations to help every student. Master teachers developed emotional intelligence skills (Rodriquez, 2013). They leveraged these skills and responded to learners with sustainable actions by making decisions, following through, and adapting. Rodriquez (2013) analyzed the results of her research as supporting the interaction of teachers' efforts and the development of systems-thinking. She wrote that teachers responded to learners. Instead of following a linear progression, systems-thinkers responded to learners' choices, processed the situations, and used their skills to leverage the system to be the most efficient.

Rodriquez (2013) explained that public school was a defined system that educators observed, monitored, and engineered to have predictable results. She outlined the history of education reform and how educators used systems-thinking to discover the link between teachers and students and how leaders implemented a system-wide change and innovated their processes to meet students' needs. Rodriquez strengthened her argument by outlining the attributes teachers saw and understood their responses to learners. In her text, she used master teacher testimonies to connect her systems- thinking examples to personal stories that validated the core skills of teaching.

Any bias Rodriquez exhibited was in her treatment of the most popular education directives that used linear perspectives instead of systems-thinking. For example, end of course exams, teacher-centric lecture lesson plans, and unwillingness to shift direction were examples of linear perspective. She saw systems-thinking as more responsive because not only should teachers adapt and change, but learners can also accept the information, process it, and use it to fulfill their needs. This information addressed teacher efficacy because master teachers saw problems, understood the components, and used their systems-thinking to fix them. They reorganized and reapplied lessons based on learner feedback to the point that they pushed students past their habitual responses to affirmative action. She believed that teachers processed information and looked for outcomes that affected students' learning.

# **Goals and Standards**

Communication is paramount to transform an educational setting. Educators articulate their vision and experiences in various contexts and judge how well the stakeholders receive their message (Kafele, 2016). The current educational landscape focuses on goals and standards as the expected accountability minimums (TEA, 2018c). Legislators, community leaders, parents, and the public set minimum expectations for national and state standards, like No Child Left Behind (NCLB), Every Students Succeeds Act (ESSA), and the Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS) state standards (Ayala, 2017; ESSA, 2019; Klein, 2015; TEA, 2015, 2019b). To help students understand what the community expects students to master, educators used goals and standards to guide typical lesson plan instruction. In some lessons, teachers labeled learning objectives as direct instruction opportunities and shared these expectations with students (Kafele, 2016).

# Goals and Teacher Efficacy

To improve teacher efficacy, educators set goals to find measurable growth and results, but standards were insufficient to provide professional development discourse. Teachers' roles shifted substantially in differentiated instruction because the focus was on students' abilities, not on teachers' professional identity (Barni et al., 2019). However, to improve teacher efficacy, researchers suggested that teachers review their teaching practices as a differentiation component to find and utilize different instructional strategies to equalize opportunities and participation for special education and gifted students (Kafele, 2016; Lourenco et al., 2015; Marzano et al., 2017).

Multiple studies reported that teachers used different teaching strategies to create egalitarian education systems that move students through learning, assessing, retesting, monitoring, and provide challenges and successes. Effective teachers implement systems that were multidimensional and promoted inclusion. For instance, researchers proved that gifted students benefited from singular attention (Levent, 2011; Levy, 2008). However, to cover the full range of increasing diversity, teachers systematized differentiations to manage a complicated process with nearly endless options (Coubergs et al., 2017; Valiandes, 2015).

Teachers tried to improve curriculum efficiency and aligned the proper implementation of planned lessons, but not every educator was a trained, efficient teacher (Lourenco et al., 2015). The reported benefits include identifying every learner level, individualizing with differentiation, extending opportunities to every level of learner, and making school a supportive environment (Rytivaara & Vehkakoski, 2015).

Historically, education adapted to acute conditions. Researchers included the role of

teacher efficacy in their efforts to improve students' opportunities to learn and grow (Hattie, 2012). Teachers built confidence in their instruction when they had clear intentions and high expectations, engaged in feedback, and took time for reflection. Teachers provided an environment where at-risk students felt supported and safe by planning routines, clear tasks, and engaging content (Kafele, 2016; Marzano et al., 2017). Teachers who believed they influenced every student's education changed the learning environment (Hattie, 2012). For example, for students whose reading fluency scores stagnated or regressed, teachers monitored students' progress and found workable solutions to improve instruction. Tschannen-Moran and Johnson (2011) wrote that for literacy instruction the socio-economic situation of struggling students was not related to their fluency scores. While no one foresaw every complexity, effective teachers designed systems that look from an objective goal-focused vantage point, ask questions, pooled teams' experience, and looked for complex solutions from fresh perspectives.

# Personal Example of Teacher Efficacy

Hamman (2014) wrote a dissertation about her South African classroom, and the research aligned with similar differentiated instruction educational studies. She noticed the increasing school diversity increased the gap between what students knew and the expectations of mastery. Using differentiation, she adjusted the curriculum to meet the variety of students' needs.

Two important findings in her research were (a) her efficacy meeting the challenges of differentiated classrooms and (b) her students' benefit as a result. First, the writer referred to her case study as "my class," the work was "my teaching practice," and "my students." She saw her actions as valuable and productive. Her first-hand knowledge of the research supported teacher efficacy research. Second, the study she reported added to pedagogical literature because she used ethical research practices. When she recorded results to reflect that students' state achievement scores improved and showed growth, she protected students' names by substituting

a personal information code. Hamman's (2014) dissertation was an example of differentiation used effectively and increased teacher self-efficacy. Her students showed growth, and she increased self-efficacy because her students understood what they needed, she saw their needs met, and she felt better about what they accomplished.

#### Effective Teachers Build Students' Metacognitive Understanding

Researchers associated differentiation and increasing students' understanding of the students' academic success. Kafele (2016) referred to the students as gaining control of the information throughout instruction. One study written by Dunlosky et al. (2013) reported that the information students got about how they learned and what significance their efforts made in how well they learned and maintained the information was statistically significant to their academic development. Students who chose the method they used to study based on how well it helped them had higher scores for retention and showed a more exceptional ability to use the information they had learned after the initial assessment.

# Differentiation: The Ethical Choice

Individualizing instruction is an educational pedagogy that engages students and increases student growth and achievement by increasing personal success (Koehler, 2010; Lawrence-Brown & Sapon-Shevin, 2015). Differentiation began with an aligned curriculum and a calendar for assessments to gauge students' mastery (Wiggins & McTighe, 2012). Researchers wrote that accommodations and best practices met all students' needs (Kafele, 2016; Marzano et al., 2017). Hattie (2012) wrote,

Teachers need to be aware of what every student in their class was thinking and what they know, be able to construct meaning and meaningful experiences in light of this knowledge of the students and have proficient knowledge and understanding of their content so that they can provide meaningful and appropriate feedback such that each
student moves progressively through the curriculum levels. (p. 22)

Because effective teachers implemented these accommodations, students practiced acquired skills and learned new material with support from educators and peers (Ready, 2013; Wiggins & McTighe, 2012). Students use their time and effort in a low-affective environment; they take risks, fail, learn, and grow because they feel safe. Researchers reported increased students' growth after these efforts (Ready, 2013; Wiggins & McTighe, 2012).

To provide what students required to succeed, knowledgeable teachers used critical instructional components and resolved the gaps made by increasing academic diversity in schools (Koehler, 2010). The researchers reported that students had many reasons for being further from the expected academic skills of mid-line general education, such as poverty, higher than average mobility, unrealized potential, undiagnosed learning disabilities, and the lack of parental education (ESSA, 2018; Saunders, 2013; TEA, 2019b). When teachers participated in interventions, their students enjoyed more significant success despite their socio-economic statuses, parents' education backgrounds, and other issues (Saunders, 2013; Valiandes, 2015). For at-risk students, researchers and educators have studied the causes of lower-than-expected reading fluency and how educators can affect reading instruction (Saunders, 2013). Literature is available for researchers and educators regarding the best practices for teaching reading instruction that they can use to address the myriad of reading difficulties (Roskos & Neuman, 2014; Valiandes, 2015). Saunders (2013) addressed how teacher efficacy and challenging fixed mindsets can affect students' motivation. Valiandes (2015) wrote that effective teachers who implemented differentiated instruction "can lead to equal opportunities for improvement" and "the optimization of the quality and effectiveness of teaching" (p. 1). While effective teachers have a strong effect on students' learning, this researcher's project is measuring teacher efficacy, teachers' belief that they impact students' outcomes.

In some schools, teachers used texts like the *Teach Like a Champion* classroom management system to build cultures of mutual respect and equitable treatment of all students (Lemov, 2015). For some districts, new teacher training, administrators gave every novice teacher the book, *The Classroom Management Book: The Effective Teacher* (Wong et al., 2014), and they paired instructional direction from a master-teacher or an instructional coach to be a hands-on, experienced help (Wong et al., 2014). Rather than let teachers feel overwhelmed if they tried to apply all the ideas, administrators encouraged teachers to try various methods, reevaluate, and reapply what worked well (Wong et al., 2014). With experience and skill, savvy teachers chose the best routines for their classes, the application of systems made manageable processes out of endless options (Coubergs et al., 2017; Valiandes, 2015).

#### **Teacher Efficacy and Reading Fluency Assessment**

Researchers with projects wherein educators using student assessment data reported that these actions were useful for solving student achievement gaps regardless of socio-economic concerns or students at-risk of falling behind (Ball & O'Connor, 2016; Moyer et al., 2012, Roskos & Neuman, 2014). Related to the reading tests to be used in this research project, educators found that adaptive testing was instrumental in accessing differentiated instruction for all levels of readers (Lourenco et al., 2015). For individual education instruction, teachers used assistive technology (Lourenco et al., 2015). Researchers wrote that they associated the problem of practice with educational strategies and assistive technology components and how effective teachers reviewed their practices to produce equal opportunities and participation of their students (Lourenco et al., 2015).

Lourenco et al. (2015) stated, "the main goal of assistive technology, associated with the applicability of appropriate strategies, is to maximize the skills of each student by teaching and to help him/her to develop it as much and as quickly as he/she can" (p. 891). Armbruster et al.

(2001) found in their study of oral reading that student-specific repeated and monitored oral reading utilized in computer adaptive testing improved reading fluency and overall reading achievement. Likewise, computer-adaptive tests and educational best practices, including various teaching strategies and assistive technologies, showed promise as accommodations that increase students' opportunities for development (Ciccarelli, 2017; Lourenco et al., 2015, Saunders, 2013; Valiandes, 2015).

The Primary Reading MAP assessment is administered nationally on thousands of campuses with millions of validated results (NWEA, 2017). The testing instrument has not changed significantly in 25 years (Thum, 2015), and NWEA's research division has reported the validity regularly; the significance of the reported results has been peer-reviewed (January & Ardoin, 2015; NWEA, 2017a). Evaluating assessment results and the resulting instructional changes focus on the depth and complexity between student groups, add to the benefits of understanding and application, and boost students' achievement (Levent, 2011). Teachers use different teaching strategies, including individual education students. The researchers presented how the groundwork for all students' policies and practices started with educators using assistive technology (Lourenco et al., 2015). Researchers reported that educators, teachers, and administrators looked for classrooms that supported every student's academic growth as critical for improved instructional opportunities despite economic or cultural differences (Bines & Lei, 2011; Lourenco et al., 2015; Rogat & Adams-Wiggins, 2015; Sekulowicz & Sekulowicz, 2015). *Teachers Efficacy in Building Reading Fluency* 

Reading, fluency, and student proficiency experts suggested that accommodated lessons for any student who fell behind might be a useful answer to declining test scores (Gelzheiser et al., 2019). Rather than use a conventional standardized test, a general outcome measure, as an end of term exam, schools that implemented adaptive assessment tools reported increased student motivation, achievement, and prolonged effects of positive interaction between teachers and students (Ball & O'Connor, 2016; Faber et al., 2017). Even though low socio-economic and at-risk students reading scores have been studied (Roskos & Neuman, 2014; Valiandes, 2015), researchers have not specified one type of reliable technology to study or one population to examine; however, positive results is repeatable on a large scale (Altintas & Ozdemir, 2015).

Ball and O'Connor (2016) documented how difficult it was for schools to "streamline a system of assessment measures that allow for efficient problem identification, problem analysis, eligibility determination, and program evaluation" (p. 195). Other researchers reported that adaptive testing had been instrumental in helping educators decide a course of action for every student (January & Ardoin, 2015; Merino & Beckman, 2010). Following correct administration protocols, the results were accessible, and the normed results estimated students' instructional needs based on their responses (Ball & O'Connor, 2016). Teachers analyze the scores within 24 hours instead of the three to six-week window typical with traditional tests thus results are timely and useful for on-going monitoring of students' success or need for intervention.

#### **Reading Tests**

Skilled teachers used reading fluency tests in primary grades to monitor student performance and progress, thus, predicting performance trends (January & Ardoin, 2015; Kontrovourki, 2012; Merino & Beckman, 2010; Roskos & Neuman, 2014). Researchers reported that educators considered these assessments valid student data (Heinemann, 2020e; NWEA, 2017a). The widely accepted results predicted performance on future tests (Ball & O'Connor, 2016; January & Ardoin, 2015). By dynamically adjusting with students' answers, the MAP Growth Report measures performance over time (NWEA, 2017c). The Student Progress Profile uses Rasch Unit scale score so educators can consider the scores as continuous, and analysts can relate the results to longitudinal growth student to student rather than comparing them to a cohort or all test takers (NWEA, 2017b).

Administrating the Reading Tests. While educators accepted the reading tests as valid, they thought that administering each test was difficult. For both reading assessments, teachers worked to align the correct test to the right students while providing a proper testing environment: (a) a working computer lab or personal device to set up and use the MAP tests platform and (b) a private table or desk for the teacher to administer the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment. To begin testing, the proctor had to follow complicated directions with multiple steps to initiate and monitor the students' tests. With the MAP test, because the computer test was adaptive if students answer correctly, the next question was higher and more difficult. Students at the point of frustration gave up and started choosing wrong answers to quickly end the test (Eklund et al., 2017). For the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment, if students disengaged or if there were distractions, the test results were not accurate. When the testing finished, teachers uploading the results required adequate network connections.

Primarily, teachers administered the reading tests and arranged all the elements necessary for administering the tests correctly to ensure equanimity. Academic diversity increased because conventional student grouping was according to the school's enrollment by class, so teachers struggled to correct all factors that affected testing (Heinemann Publishing, 2020a, 2020c, 2020e; NWEA, 2017c, 2018b). For example, the type and level of tests must be assigned correctly to the students. For MAP tests, the classes must be entered well in advance (NWEA, 2018a). For the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment, teachers trained with experienced school leadership before administering. Next, within a designated window, on the class's scheduled day of the test, the tests were actualized and administered during the time allowed, without interruptions, following the proper procedures (Heinemann Publishing, 2020a, 2020e; NWEA, 2018a). Teachers reported that they did not feel adequate to administer the testing without experience and guidance; thus, their efficacy was affected (Basham et al., 2010; January & Ardoin, 2015; Thum, 2015).

The Positive Outcome of Successful Administration. Finally, when the test administrations were successful, assessment records documented positive student performance with achievement and growth at every learner level (Tindal et al., 2016). Educators described how teachers, diagnosticians, and administrators interpreted results consistently using the norms as a growth report (Heinemann Publishing, 2020b, 2020e; NWEA, 2018c). The reports recorded test results for multiple years, so teachers felt confident that their analyses reflected students' academic improvement (Buchsbaum, 2013; NWEA, 2015b, 2015c).

If students presented a downward trend, the MAP Learning Continuum and the Fountas & Pinnell ODMS recorded the test scores and if a downward trend was noted the system prompted the teacher and suggested direct-teach lessons. Teachers could share the on-line data monitoring program's suggestions with parents, tutors, and add to instruction (Heinemann Publishing, 2020b, 2020e; NWEA, 2017b). Teachers used these suggestions to write intervention plans; they depended on reliable test results over time to alleviate their concerns about addressing students' needs.

If reading scores continued to decline, educators who used this system might improve students' learning and meet standards (Ball & O'Connor, 2016; Merino & Beckman, 2010; Rogat & Adams Wiggins, 2015). The research suggested that repeated and monitored oral reading improved reading fluency and overall reading achievement (Armbruster et al., 2001). Other research suggested that students improved their fluency when their teacher used corrective feedback. Various approaches, including active participation in oral reading of a connected text and 10 to 20 minutes of reading rate practice, were other suggestions (Gelzheiser et al., 2019). Other studies focused on a more extensive variety of adaptive technologies implemented to help students reach proficiency (Hsiao & Chiou, 2017; January & Ardoin, 2015; Lourenco et al., 2015; Merino & Beckman, 2010; Morgan, 2014; Wiggins & McTighe, 2012). However, researchers cautioned against purely scripted lessons that were teacher-directed instead of focused on students' needs and interests, so they suggested rigid lessons were not the direction for students who need differentiation and adaptive technology (Begeny et al., 2012).

#### Rasch Scale of MAP Test Results Units

Rasch units are the scale for the MAP test scores (Thum et al., 2015). These units are integral to alleviating skewed results in favor of any demographic group for example, higher socio-economic students or students with accommodations served in general education classes "An item exhibiting difficulty higher than the ability level of the respondent will have a lower probability of being correctly answered than an item of difficulty below the ability level of the respondent" (Boone, 2016, p. 4). Because the scale continuum is consistent, there is homogeneity, every student is counted equally (NWEA, 2020; Thum et al., 2015). The Rasch scale is set on a conjoint numbering system, 0–100 scale, and uses unidimensional range of difficulty (Boone, 2016). That is to say that the number of redundant items decreases, so the scoring levels are simple and applicable over time. Because students' scores were sufficient and relatable, they fit this project because three scores in one year for a class sized sample were a valid measure without this researcher having to clean up the data for missing items or miscategorized answers (Boone, 2016; Muijs, 2011).

Homogeneity limits the set of attributes, supports a small set of samples for example students in a classroom, and while affecting no other factors, reflects the difficulty of a test items against the student's ability to answer that item. The data reflected in homogeneity fits the model rather than the model fitting the data and the intervals between the rating scale scores were calibrated on a linear measure with standard error rates and a predicted measure versus actual measure analysis (Boone, 2016). It should be noted that researchers caution that the lower and higher ends of the scale are fraught with extremes. Because analysist must treat outlying scores as less certain, the application of Pearson's Coefficient to look for correlation or outlying scores should be excluded from data analysis (Muijs, 2011).

### **Teachers Act Intentionally**

Researchers wrote that teachers established routines and used best practices to build classroom culture (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b; Wong et al., 2014). When the instructional methods followed students' expectations, they felt safe and supported. Conscientious planning, cultural customs, and practiced methods helped reduce students' stress and helped them cope with new concepts and skills while forming healthy academic discipline. For example, proficient teachers who established expected daily routines created a low affective filter, a safe place where things happen as students expected day after day (Koehler, 2010).

#### **Shared Vision**

Senge (2006) wrote that leaders must create and promote a shared vision to affect change. Because educators share the vision of high performing instruction for students, they promote a culture of inclusion and equity across the education process (Rodriquez, 2013). The combined voices and ideas of all stakeholders are vital to the growth and development of schools and students-focused programs (Kafele, 2016).

To fulfill the community vision, administrators planned time and invested resources in making a positive, progressive culture (De Neve et al., 2015; Hattie, 2012). Researchers published studies and stories explaining how a school's positive culture was integral to students' long-term success. One critical element to students' academic success was their ability to read and process text. Literacy and reading fluency are listed by researchers as critical to long-term academic success. To transform education, educators organized to support the change.

One important element is the inclusion of small groups that are implemented to address problems that come to the forefront. As the inclusive, student-focused culture develops, the small groups and the entire organization play roles in developing and propelling the transformation (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). The implications of inclusive practice and differentiation were essential because they marked a culture shift that changed students' lives. Inclusion was the pedagogy educators employed to build general education situations that supported all students to meet the goals and standards (Kafele, 2016).

Teachers and administrators implemented procedures that supported students on many levels regardless of their demographic or economic designation (Kafele, 2016). Educators used an interconnecting network of procedures and responses that they applied as needed in long-term and short-term interventions. Often educators needed to retool their mental models into new, adaptive applications (Saunders, 2013; Senge, 2006). Because the parts are interchangeable and applicable in different ways, teachers chose what part to use when needed to help students in a variety of settings (Kafele, 2016). By implementing systems-thinking, educators used the pieces to fulfill the needs of students, teachers, administrators, and community stakeholders.

#### **Systems-Thinking**

Teachers used each of these detailed elements: collaboration, collective inquiry, shared vision, team learning, and growth mindset rather than fixed mental models to transform schools and started a nation-wide educational change. They invested hours working together, building cultures, all while sharing resources and research. Teachers felt the challenges were too much to face alone, instead, through systems-thinking, administrators and educators fleshed out what had been theory to practical application that improved students' growth (Allison, 1999).

# Collaboration

Collaborating with others creates a shared understanding of essential elements and principles because to accomplish a goal, everyone involved shares responsibility to work together (Herrmann, 2019; Kafele, 2016). Rather than working alone, team members work interdependently to achieve common goals. The collective group values the contribution of its members and makes necessary compromises. Groupmates build trust and relationships as they learn from one another. They understand and use the collaborative improvement process to achieve their goals (Herrmann, 2019; Kafele, 2016).

To meet students' diverse needs, faculty, staff, and administration cultivate a common understanding, common language, and inclusive actions central to all students' ethical treatment (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Implementing these elements was relevant to ongoing improvements because instructional growth and development become complicated. In American education, each decade of instructional adaptation improves the likelihood of students' best interests being addressed and fostered (Kafele, 2016). In the current education environment, Hamman (2014) wrote that leaders who build a joint mission with their teams work with everyone to find common values and convictions. They develop imaginations and qualities that keep the group together and moving forward (Hamman, 2014).

#### **Collective Inquiry**

Team members use collective inquiry as a best practice (Hattie, 2012). By examining schools and students' current situation, educators look relentlessly, question the status quo, seek new methods, and build new procedures to improve and expand their organization (Senge. 2006). They move forward and value engagement and personal experiences (Kafele, 2013). They work differently and expect results to follow. Kafele (2016) addressed the steps colleagues took to align the vision. Stakeholders judge the results of these efforts: student achievement, team

participation, ongoing action, established goals, and evidence of success (Kafele, 2016), so the first steps involved all the stakeholders in the conversation because the leadership believes everyone who has a stake should have a voice (Ayala, 2017; Piedad, 2018).

De Neve et al. (2015) wrote that collaboration is intentional with planned time, a designated place, and specific resources designated for the shared vision. When leaders guide the explanation of the vision and the group meetings, they created and followed expectations (Çaycı, 2011; De Neve et al., 2015). These group norms sustained long-term relationships that grew and developed over time and overcame challenges. Before the meetings occurred, the leadership and members planned and used processed that included designated roles, includes team-member skills, and encourages on-going learning (De Neve et al., 2015).

#### Educators Used the Vison to Refine and Improve Actions

To create a shared vision, the group members and stakeholders reviewed, refined, and reassessed their ideas and written statements, and made changes as needed. De Neve et al., 2015 pointed out that groups evolved their goals, visions, and mission statements through trial and error. Teachers referred to the vision and mission in conversations about the aligned instruction and standards (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). By matching curriculum delivery to achieving the standards, educators selected differentiations to help students perform in line with the overall vision (Dougherty, 2012). Schools employed the whole organization and small groups to address problems that came to the forefront as the inclusive, student-focused culture develops (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). The implications of inclusive practice and differentiation were essential because they marked a culture shift that changed students' lives.

**Fulfilling the Shared Vision.** Inclusion was the pedagogy educators employed to build general education situations that supported all students to meet the goals and standards (Kafele, 2016). To fulfill a shared vision, leaders and stakeholders planned time to learn and invest

resources in making a positive, progressive culture (De Neve et al., 2015; Hattie, 2012). Published studies and stories explained how a positive culture is integral to students' long-term success (Dougherty, 2012; Kafele, 2016). One critical element to students' academic success is their ability to read and process text (Kafele, 2013). Literacy and reading fluency are listed as critical components to all students' academic success (Gelzheiser et al., 2019; Kafele, 2013). Examples of these efforts have been shared in books and studies about improving students' literacy.

**Culture of Literacy.** Leader-to-faculty and peer-to-peer collaborations created a culture of literacy including looking at formative assessments, built-in checks for understanding, and objectively graded tests all demonstrated the benefits of interventions and increased the likelihood of students' successes (Ciccarelli, 2017). When administrators granted teachers the authority to lead changes in applied pedagogies, understand others' perspectives, and employ communication, educators found significant success (Siry et al., 2016). A shared vision was critical to the organization's success (Senge, 1990). Instead of pushing educators who felt ultimately responsible past their limits, leaders supported participants. When teachers felt confident to tackle the problems inherent in individualized instruction and expected success, they were highly satisfied with the positive outcomes (Sture, 2014).

Because school culture included professional communities working together, teachers and administrators came together to plan and implement efforts concerning learner-centered disciplines (Donohoo et al., 2018). Many educators reported that they benefited from the wealth of experience and talents (Morgan, 2014; Smit & Humpert, 2012). In peer-to-peer interactions, researchers reported that teachers understood that instructional methods involved established structure, and cutting-edge technology, and the implementation of student-focused action plans (Herrmann, 2019). When teachers had an hour set aside daily to plan lessons, implement developments, and monitor students' academic progress, they benefited from a significant professional development allotment (Kafele, 2016; Tomlinson & Murphy, 2015). By promoting equity, education's quality, and effectiveness improved (Roskos & Neuman, 2014).

# **Team Learning**

Researchers wrote that professional learning communities (PLCs) increased educators' professional growth and culminated in three elements: critical-, long-term-, and constructive relationships (De Neve et al., 2015; Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Teachers used these communities to aide their decisions and behavior changes. For example, in a Japanese study, science teachers worked in collaborative groups that created an environment that helped each other overcome high demand work environments by providing excellent examples to draw from when teachers faced challenges (Herrmann, 2019). Other researchers told of schools that used groups for like planning and professional development to serve schools' instructional purposes (Donohoo et al., 2018). Teachers accessed a wide-variety of group-wisdom to meet the needs of diverse student populations, and they adapted to students' needs (De Neve et al., 2015).

#### **Professional Learning Communities**

In education literature, researchers found a link between PLCs, teacher efficacy, and instructional differentiation (Donohoo et al., 2018; DuFour, 2015; Herrmann, 2019). Senge wrote that a practical, "shared picture" and genuine dedication to an organization's future improved with professional conversations (1990, p. 2). If this relationship was essential to the intended outcome because the bond between teachers feeling empowered to adapt and affect students connects to professional relationships and how potent their personal decisions were to their efforts, a researcher should study it. Recognizing that association between two "variables that give no information about the value of the other" should not be confused with causality and remembering that other variables could be present or absent and cause unforeseen outcomes, so

there is no inference in this relationship (Altman & Krzywinski, 2015, p. 899).

Tomlinson (2017a, 2017b) and Kafele (2016) found that teachers learn their craft when they can affect students' learning and academic growth. They suggested that leaders must ensure that personnel, money, time, and all the resources available address students' needs adequately. Educators defined internal daily collaboration as horizontal and vertical alignment with other educators (Çaycı, 2011; Dixon et al., 2014). Professional collaboration and professional development efforts were integral to the progression of the need-meeting process (DuFour, 2015; Kafele, 2016).

# **Planned Interventions**

Teachers streamlined standardized lessons by establishing procedures to instruction planning. Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy's (2001) TSES asked teachers how much they thought they affected students mastering difficult lessons. When they persevered, teachers increased the likelihood of students adding new information to their existing constructs and other instructional elements (Ohio State University, 2014). Depending on the teacher training, educators knew they could master some of these challenges (Marzano et al., 2017; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

#### Summary

After Texas State Board of Education changed the accountability standards, the district scored a lower-than-expected rating. The district started an evaluation and improvement plan. Because district students did not reach critical achievement expectations, the primary vision school leaders undertook was the challenge of improving students' educational opportunities. To meet accountability standards, schools monitored student growth and worked to implement improvements that helped students meet expectations (TEA, 2019a, 2019b). In general education classrooms, one possible successful practice was supporting and enhancing teacher efficacy.

Tomlinson and Moon (2013), like Senge (2006), described educators' responsibility as deliberate actions. Teachers who felt competent adapted professional practices, established trust, and in demanding and complex situations addressed problems, and found solutions to problems that educators faced daily (Çaycı, 2011; Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b; Varghese et al., 2016).

Tomlinson (2017a, 2017b) reported that multiple elements were critical in affecting students' learning: leadership, collegial collaboration, and alignment of goals and actions. Leaders ensured that personnel, money, time, and all the resources available addressed students' needs adequately (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Professional collaboration and professional development efforts were integral to a shared vision and the need-meeting process (DuFour, 2015). Educators defined internal daily collaboration as horizontal and vertical alignment with other educators (Çaycı, 2011; Dixon et al., 2014).

Teachers examined and analyzed peer feedback, evaluations, and evidence of faculty and students' growth (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). When teachers understood the benefits of individualized lessons for students, they differentiated (Rytivaara & Vehkakoski, 2015). They served their students and believed their actions to be ethical applications of their values (Lourenco et al., 2015). Teachers modified with a variety of strategies, inclusion, assistive technologies, and educational best practices; the studies indicated accommodations allowed access to appropriate procedures, so teachers felt more in control and allowed students to develop with assistance and maximized their opportunities (Ciccarelli, 2017; Lourenco et al., 2015).

Effective teachers used interventions, engaged students, increased student growth and achievement, and improved individual success (Kafele, 2016; Koehler, 2010; Lawrence-Brown & Sapon-Shevin, 2015). During an academic year, educators wrote an aligned curriculum and spaced-out learning units to prepare students for mastery tests. With tests, they assessed students'

growth and achievement (Wiggins & McTighe, 2012). When students struggled to meet growth and assessment goals, teachers intervened and implemented the best practices that reach all students (Marzano et al., 2017).

Altman and Krzywinski (2015) cautioned,

A direct causal link cannot be inferred; the association merely suggests a hypothesis, such as a common cause, but did not offer proof. Also, when many variables in complex systems are studied, spurious associations can arise. Thus, association did not imply causation. (p. 899)

To determine the association between TSES effective teachers and the outcome from a measurable skill like reading fluency, by using the Primary Reading MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment, this study added to the literature. Without implying causality, if the results seem more than random, the variables and indicated an association. Optimistic teachers who considered themselves highly effective were with students who exhibited improved reading fluency scores, there was more to the equation that just best-practices, but no causality is assumed. The belief that teachers mattered and were critical to all students' academic improvement. Reading fluency was a measurable skill that reflected benefits beyond a strong curriculum or learning strategies. The district found benefit from this information because there was a positive association between teacher efficacy and students' academic growth.

#### **Chapter 3: Research Method**

The problem facing a North Texas school district was lower than expected achievement on the Texas Education Agency reporting of the third grade reading assessment (TEA, 2020c). Researchers considered reading fluency critical to students' academic growth and achievement (Ball & O'Connor, 2016; Kuhn et al., 2010). While monitoring the outcome for every level of students and special care for students at-risk, the district leadership was looking for organizationwide programs to improve all students' academic growth and achievement. Researchers provided evidence that teachers' confidence in their abilities to overcome challenges is a significant factor in improving every students' educations (Dixon et al., 2014; Valiandes, 2015).

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there was a statistically significant association between the range of teachers' self-reported efficacy and third grade students' reading scores on two reading tests (Cheprasov, 2018). While in experimental studies researchers manipulate the study environment or system in some way, one cannot accurately ascertain a correlation study's cause and effect relationship; I sought to find associations between variables (Cheprasov, 2018).

# **Research Questions**

Four research questions guided the study.

- RQ1: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement scores.

- H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement.
- RQ2: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.
- RQ3: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP reading assessment achievement scores.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP reading assessment achievement.
- RQ4: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade

teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?

- H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
- H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.

## **Research Design and Method**

A quantitative approach was chosen to determine if there was a statistically significant association between teachers' efficacy and the students' reading scores on two tests used in the district. An authentic experimental design was not practical because researchers cannot manipulate or randomize student or teacher populations in general education public school classrooms (Blackstone, 2018). However, researchers did identify differences between established groups that exist due to the natural process of student/teacher placement in general education (Texas Classrooms Teachers' Association, 2020).

#### Population

The population chosen for this study was the third grade general education classrooms in a North Texas school district. Accordingly, the TEA published a report for the 2018–2019 school year; the groups were consistent without marked demographic changes from previous years (TEA, 2020a).

Students in general education classes received the district established curriculum that teachers created based on the aligned Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS) standards.

The demographics of these third graders were representative of general education populations in demographically similar districts (TEA, 2020a). Teachers for these grades were similar in years of experience as other teachers across the state (TEA, 2020c). Finally, educators support interventions for every student to meet their educational needs (Marzano et al., 2017; Tomlinson & Murphy, 2015).

## **Study Sample**

In December 2019, I approached the school district's Assessments and Research Office to solicit cooperation and final approval for the proposed project formally. There had been two informal discussions with the Assessments and Research staff prior. Initially, I planned the study for sixth grade teachers and student scores from the Primary Reading MAP assessment. The Assessments and Research Office was enthusiastic about the project but requested, to better support district objectives, that the research be conducted at third grade and that Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment scores be included in addition to Primary Reading MAP. I agreed, and completed the research prerequisites until IRB approval was obtained.

As the research launched, the Assessments and Research Office would handle all contact with district staff as per their procedures. That initial contact would work exclusively through campus principals. During the project, COVID-19 and related remote learning challenges were occurring daily. Ultimately, eight campus principals out of 24 elementary schools, opted out of the project. Next, the Assessments and Research Office decided to exclude any staff who were currently, or during 2018–2019, were administrators, instructional facilitators, coordinators, or multi-assignment teachers.

Finally, it was decided by the district that only third grade, general education, teachers of record would be studied. This decision was made when the Assessments and Research Office personnel had changed, and the primary support staff person, the one who provided all the final

results, was no longer the head office. When the district applied the established criteria, the sample size was 43 teachers. Since the 2018–2019 school year test, data were the most recent and reliable information due to COVID-19, only the criteria-meeting teachers were included. After removing those who retired, moved from the district, changed jobs, and so on, the final sample the Assessments and Research Office asked to take the project survey was 29 teachers of record. Twenty-seven (27) teachers responded, and the corresponding student data from Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment and the Primary Reading MAP assessment were matched and delivered.

The quantitative sample was as diverse as expected based on multiple studies in a review of the literature (Armstrong, 2018; Benton & Li, 2015; Gómez-Zepeda et al., 2017; Valenzano & Wallace, 2014). To find an appropriate sample size, I used a sample calculator (Survey System, 2020). The margin of error was set at 5% with a population of 29 teachers. To gather valid results, a minimum of 28 of the 29 possible respondents was needed to complete the survey with 95% statistical significance. Lau (2017) wrote that a "general limitation of a correlational study is that it can determine the association between exposure and outcomes but cannot predict causation" (p. 1). I did not control the allocation of students or teachers' assignments and viewed objectively the variables without affecting the outcome of the results.

#### Materials/Instruments

The district chose the Primary Reading MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment because of the proven, reliable results (Heinemann, 2020b; Thum & Hauser, 2015). To assess an association between reading scores and teacher efficacy, I used Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) to discover how teachers felt about their efforts to effect students' educations. The following sections outline how the researcher administered the TSES and how the data were collected data. Please see Appendix A for a copy of the authors' permission to use the instrument for this research and see Appendix B for a copy of the short form survey instrument. Appendix C includes the directions for administering the survey and the item analysis.

# Survey Administration

To administer the survey, I sent a link to the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) in a Google Document questionnaire to teachers the Assessment Department had identified as having taught third grade general education classes 2018–2019.

- The Assessments and Research Department sent surveys directly to the teachers.
- The window for the survey was two weeks with a few reminder emails.
- Teachers were encouraged to participate.
- There was no accommodation further than the capabilities of Google Text-to-speech available.

Though the Assessments and Research Department shielded the individual responses, teachers were allowed to ask for a compilation of response tables after the conclusion of the study.

# Preparing for the Survey

Before administering the survey, the I ensured the following:

- Teachers who were currently employed by the district had access to an incognito Google site.
- They created an identifier to shield their responses.
- Teachers were able to access the form on any computers or devices, professional and private, with access to the district's Google Drive.
- There was no limit on the time of day they accessed the form.

• Within the 2-week window, teachers submitted one response, and they edited their responses when they completed the survey.

# Taking the Survey

Completion time: 10–20 minutes. Note: Teachers took as long as necessary to complete the survey. However, if they left the form, it did not save their responses.

- Each teacher needed their district login as a passkey, password, or log in to access the form.
- The survey did not record respondents' emails, and their self-selected digital identification number protected their identities.
- No one was allowed to answer more than once, but the respondents edited their answers after submitting it.
- Only completed forms were accepted.

The following text was included in the survey email and to ensure consistency of implementation:

A number of statements about organizations, people, and teaching are presented below. The purpose is to gather information regarding the actual attitudes of educators concerning these statements. There are no correct or incorrect answers. We are interested only in your frank opinions. Your responses will remain confidential. INSTRUCTIONS: Please indicate your personal opinion about each statement by choosing the appropriate response for each statement.

# Following Survey Administration

To analyze the survey data, I logged-in to the district created Excel file to retrieve the responses sent from the Assessments and Research Department. The responses were downloaded on a district-provided laptop. The survey responses or items associated with responses were

discussed only with the Assessments and Research Department because their help was invaluable to the project.

To find an appropriate sample size, I used a sample calculator (Survey System, 2020) and set the confidence level to 90% and a population of teachers. To gather valid results, a minimum of 27 of the 29 possible respondents were needed to complete the survey.

# Survey Results

After the district's Assessments and Research Department removed all identifying information, they sent the scores with designations they determined. Survey results were compiled by coding the responses into two equally portioned respondent ranges. The mode and the median were used to organize the responses.

Teachers completed the survey within two weeks. I provided a summary of the results of the research data results upon request. I included in the survey results:

- the number of teacher respondents; and
- the ranges of responses with the standard deviation compared to all respondents.

When I gathered the data, the data points were aligned and analyzed for any association between teachers' high TSES and reading test scores and low TSES scores and reading test scores. In correlational research I measures the variables and the association between them, unlike researchers of experimental studies where the triggered variables demonstrate an expected phenomenon (Form Plus Blog, 2020). I possessed the skill set (a) to analyze the composition of the test instruments, the normed data results, the reporting systems; (b) to help teachers see students' growth over multiple test administrations; and (c) to analyze the reading test data and the data variables.

### **Data Collection and Analysis Procedures**

The data collection was sourced from the students' reading assessments and the teachers'

self-efficacy surveys. The reading assessment data were archival sources collected previously in 2018–2019 by teachers in the normal course of their duties to assess and instruct students. The TSES data were the primary source I used to assess if there was any association between teachers' levels of confidence and students' reading scores. The Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy TSES's Likert scale was used because the data were easier to gather and were available in a timely manner.

The correlative method can be used to determine the nonlinear relationship between the variables while gathering large amounts of statistical data in a short time (Form Plus Blog, 2020). Using this less-time consuming and less expensive research method with an online version of the TSES, I was able to work with the sample population quickly and follow safety protocols. The Form Plus Blog (2020) wrote that correlation research offers

shallow data gathering using different methods such as a short survey. A short survey did not require the researcher to personally administer it, allowing the researcher to work with a few people. It is an inexpensive, time-sensitive way to gather data and process and analyze information quickly. (p. 1)

Because correlative research is nonexperimental, no variables were manipulated in a scientific methodology to agree or disagree with the hypothesis (Form Plus Blog, 2020). I observed and measured the natural relationship of the variables without exerting influence on either.

Any bias in the survey questions was addressed by the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2015) research. The analysis of the data followed the prescribed-procedure to avoid any under or over representing survey responses (Form Plus Blog, 2020).

A direct causal link cannot be inferred; the association merely suggests a hypothesis, such as a common cause, but does not offer proof. Also, when many variables in complex systems are studied, spurious associations can arise. Thus, association does not imply causation. (Altman & Krzywinski, 2015, p. 899)

# **Operational Definitions of Variables**

The first two variables were the students' reading test scores after taking the Primary Reading MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment over the course of the 2018–2019 school year. After the Assessments and Research Department removed all identifying data, they shared the files in SPSS with the designations they applied. All students' data were anonymous.

MAP. Teachers supervised the fall, winter, and spring testing administrations on three Primary Reading MAP assessments (NWEA, 2015b, 2017b). The Assessments and Research Department collected the Rasch Unit band score from the Student Profile Report and created anonymous markers for the students designated for the study and associated their scores with their third grade teacher (NWEA, 2018a). The scores were collected over a school year, so, the resulting growth and achievement was used to quantify the direction of students' performance.

**Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment.** Teachers administered the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment three times annually according to the district's testing calendar. Teachers loaded the results into the district's data section of the Frontline Education database. The Assessments and Research Department added the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment score to a SPSS file for this project and coordinated students' identifiers with their assigned teacher.

# **Teacher Efficacy**

**TSES.** The third variable was the self-reported teacher efficacy scores on TSES for the third grade teachers who participated in this study. Teachers received the TSES link in an email and answered the survey using a Likert scale. They selected a designation for themselves, and the district's Assessment and Research department sent me the results. The department paired

students' test results with the TSES reports in a SPSS file, and I accessed and analyzed the data.

TSES was a practical scale of teacher efficacy because it has been used successfully throughout education research (De Neve et al., 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). The overall reliability and validity information was reported by Woolfolk Hoy (2020) as .94 for the long form alpha and .90 for the short form alpha.

The TSES instrument has been used in the district in 2011, 2014, and 2016; teachers were familiar with the questions and Likert scale answer options (Muijs, 2011). A cadre of teachers who rated themselves at the highest and lowest effectiveness rates were selected to compare the students' reading scores (De Neve et al., 2015; Dixon et al., 2014). When the survey responses uploaded, the Assessments and Research Department aligned the teachers' responses with the classes assigned to them and added these TSES scores into the SPSS database to collect and analyze the data (Muijs, 2011).

#### **Pearson Product Moment**

The Pearson Correlation Coefficient was used to measure the strength of association between two variables. First, the association between the Primary Reading MAP assessment scores of third grade students and their teachers' TSES scores was determined. Next, the association of the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment of third grade students and their teachers' TSES scores was determined. The teachers' self-reported TSES scores were not rated on the same scales as either of the reading tests; however, teachers who responded to the TSES and students who took both reading tests were in the same schools, classes, and time frame. These scores reflected a convenience sample because in this North Texas district general education classes had expected distributions of students and teachers.

Statisticians stress that researchers apply seven guidelines, "assumptions" (Laerd Statistics, 2018), to ensure Pearson's Correlation Coefficient is the right methodology. If

researchers cannot meet any of the seven guidelines, Pearson's Correlation is the wrong test. The seven assumptions are: (a) the two variables should be measured on a continuous scale, (b) the data points should be paired, (c) the cases were independently observable, (d) there should be a linear relationship between the two continuous variables, (e) the continuous variables should follow a bivariate normal distribution, (f) there should be homoscedasticity, and (g) no univariate or multivariate outliers should be ignored.

This research design met the seven assumptions:

- Each variable's data points must be on a continuous scale and measured at intervals or ratios. The Primary Reading MAP assessment and Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessments are on different scales. The TSES uses a third scale. Each scale meets the assumption.
  - For the Primary Reading MAP assessment, Thum and Houser (2015) wrote,
    Since all items in a single content domain are calibrated to the same scale,
    different tests that may be constructed in that domain are all children of the same
    parent, and scores from different tests constructed from that domain can be
    interpreted in the same manner. (p. 4).
  - The Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment uses the ATOS Readability
    Formula to determine student's reading difficulty score (Heinemann, 2020c) that
    Laerd Statistics considers a continuous exam performance score (Laerd Statistics, 2018).
  - Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2001) stated "Items were coded such that the higher the score (closer to 6), the greater the confidence" (p. 350) and thus, they describe the TSES scale as a continuous scale.
- Each variable must have a "point" at each interval (Laerd Statistics, 2018). For this

research project, the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment scale scores were associated with their teacher's TSES score. Likewise, the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment scale scores were associated with their teacher's TSES score.

- Because students took each test independent of the other and independent of their teacher's TSES score, the variables were independently observable.
- I determined whether a linear association appears in a scatterplot of the data points. Muijs (2011) wrote that the researcher can determine non-linear or linear association based on the direction of the plot points.
- Since there was a bivariate normal distribution, a robust relationship can be assumed; however, univariate normality is acceptable also (Laerd Statistics, 2018).
- The Laerd Statistics group (2018) advised that researchers should depend on homoscedasticity because the variances along the line of best fit remain similar, unlike heteroscedasticity, wherein the occurrence between data points is higher and more spaced out. I analyzed the plot pattern to look for homoscedasticity.
- The Laerd group explained that researchers should not ignore and must include univariate and multivariate outliers as they affect the Pearson coefficient. All scores presented were used. As per the Primary Reading MAP assessments program protocols, the computer program identifies and cuts outliers, so they are not included in the Rausch Unit scores (Thum, 2015).

While gathering adequate samples, I looked for variables at intervals or ratios. Researchers can measure variables in different units. The units did not affect the measurement of the variable. The variables were independent; they were equal (Laerd Statistics, 2018). A Pearson Coefficient graph did not indicate the slope of the line of best fit. It only indicated whether the variables were associated closely or not.

When determining the significance of the coefficient, researchers must adhere to the following guidelines for Coefficient, *r* strength of association: low is in the ranges of 0.1 to 0.5 and -0.1 to -0.5 while high is 0.5 to 1.0 and -0.5 to -1.0. To analyze the results, I used Pearson's coefficient because the variables met the requirements of the seven assumptions. A linear association is apparent if a scatterplot of variable values has a directional value. Researchers use Pearson's coefficient to demonstrate the strength of the relationship and a range of interval or ratio data points without demonstrating causation. Therefore, Pearson's coefficient was useful in this research.

#### **Data Analysis**

After I applied the high and low ranges to the TSES results, teachers' TSES scores were associated with their students' reading results compiled from the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment. For the bivariate analysis, the difference between each variable score and the mean for each variable were included. I multiplied for each case and determined if the scores were above the mean, and demonstrated a positive association, or below the mean which resulted in a negative association (Muijs, 2011). Using the SPSS program, I found the sum of the scores and a total, which were divided by the product of the standard deviation of both variables to scale it and had the Pearson r correlation coefficient (Field, 2013; Muijs, 2011). The ranges included all completed responses submitted and followed the guidelines for quantitative research (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). I used the integrated results from the SPSS program to determine the p-value and the correlation coefficient from the data and assess statistical significance (Field, 2013; Muijs, 2011).

Altman and Krzywinski (2015) wrote,

A direct causal link cannot be inferred; the association merely suggests a hypothesis, such as a common cause, but does not offer proof. Also, when many variables in complex systems are studied, spurious associations can arise. Thus, association does not imply causation. (p. 899)

I used this study to determine if there was a statistically significant association between teachers who self-report as highly effective and higher students' academic reading test growth.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The Assessments and Research Department, administrators, and faculty monitor scores garnered in the district rather than a third party, and the teachers have access to all the reading assessments taken under the paid license logins (Heinemann Publishing, 2020f; NWEA, 2017b). Using the district's internal Assessments and Research Department, district leaders monitor students' academic growth and report to administrators throughout the year—both students' scores and teachers' access to reading reports. It is the district culture to utilize data reports and implement best practices to support students in PLCs and individual teacher's planning.

After reviewing the regulations and ethical guidelines for human participant studies, I was confident the project was covered by Chart 3: Exemptions 45 CFR 46.101(b)(1) (for Educational Settings). First, I researched the established educational setting of the third grade general education classrooms of existing elementary schools. Second, the research involved only standard educational practices: Monitoring students' academic growth and achievement was the established pedagogical expectation for all classes (ESSA, 2018; TEA, 2019b). So, this research was exempt under 45 CFR 46. 101 (b)(1) and all 45 CFR part 46 requirements, and no further review was needed.

Regarding confidentiality, the district's Assessment and Research Department protected teachers' and students' identities by removing all identifying demographics. They assigned a

marker system that related the students' reading scores to the instructors; thus, I did not need students' permissions or FERPA releases (Office for Human Research Protections, 2016). The Assessments and Research Department uploaded the reading scores for students into an Excel sheet that I used to upload TSES results for comparison and analysis.

For the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teacher Sense of Self-Efficacy (TSES), the Assessments and Research Department emailed the teachers who taught third grade in 2018– 2019 without me having any access to the participants list. The invited teachers could opt-out of the survey. After the initial invitation, there was no expectation for them to participate. The Assessments and Research Department sent any scheduled reminders.

There was no conflict of interest as I have been employed as a high school English teacher within the district. While I had a small role supporting high school students, I had no influence over this study because, as a secondary school teacher, I had no authority related to any hiring or promotions. I did not work for or with the elementary school personnel. I did not prepare elementary lessons nor lead teachers or school (Carr, 2012; Dougherty, 2012; Wiggins & McTighe, 2012).

I had the resources and skills to conduct a quantitative research project and analyzed the reading test scores, TSES data, and run SPSS reports. The findings were reported in a timely, ethical, and comprehensive manner (Patton, 2015).

#### Assumptions

For the Primary Reading MAP assessment, the assumption was that teachers followed the testing protocols, as published by NWEA (2018a), and for the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading tests, teachers used the correct testing procedures and followed district reporting guidelines. It was assumed that teachers reported results accurately.

Though most educators felt more experienced in a traditional classroom, the teachers' perceptions of their ability to overcome challenges, like the serving students with virtual and asynchronous classes should not affect their responses on TSES. COVID-19 protocols and quarantine safety measures did not change their answers to questions on the teacher-efficacy survey, TSES.

# Limitations

#### **Demographic**

The district serves 24,251 students. Currently, 65% qualify for Free/Reduced Lunch. The number of English Language Learners (ELL) has increased every year since 2010 from 15% to 35%. In the third grade, there were 1,881 students served by 71 teachers in classes averaging 24 students in each section. The placement of general education students is arranged by the counselors on each school campus and is not random but by convenience.

#### **COVID-19** Pandemic

Though I intended to use the students' archived reading scores from 2018–2019 school year, the teachers' TSES surveys were gathered during the 2020–2021 school year. Because of quarantine measures, the district leadership implemented a hybrid of traditional and remote learning for all students. During the 2020–2021 school year, teachers were in their classrooms on assigned campuses while they taught students online and in person.

Teachers were on campus, but families had the option to send students to school or utilize on-line asynchronous or synchronous learning. Counselors arranged class sizes by the number of students returning to campus. The district average for an elementary general education class was 11 students per room. When population numbers changed, students might have shifted to other teachers because the district used social distancing as a safety precaution. Until the quarantine measures were lifted, teachers managed classes in an unprecedented way.

# **Professionalism**

Overall, administrators, department heads, teachers, and community members assumed teachers used the district's resources; academic integrity and professionalism were teachers' responsibilities. To ensure a cohesive district culture, new teacher training included professional development for PLCs and developing technologies for district-wide use. These efforts supported the district's culture of systems-thinking and benefitted the integration of all instructional elements (Senge, 1990).

### Students' Testing Experiences

According to researchers, reading score reports from the MAP and ODMS were subject to students' emotional responses while taking the test (Bippert & Harmon, 2017; January & Ardoin, 2015; Thum, 2015; Thum & Hauser, 2015). The writers of test training literature wrote that it is incumbent on teachers to provide the least restrictive testing environment while maintaining discipline and control over as many factors as possible (Heinemann Publishing, 2020a; NWEA, 2017; Thum & Hauser, 2015).

## **Delimitations**

# Third Grade

I selected the third grade because teachers test students formally. The students practice both the Primary Reading MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment in first and second grade, so teachers and students were experienced with both. For this project, it was valuable to have two points to associate to the teachers' TSES. The teachers uploaded the results into the district's data base, and the scores were easily accessible.

#### **General Education**

I collected the test results for 1441 students enrolled in general education, including students in the third grade who were served by special education in their Individual Education

Plans (IEP) and Limited English Proficient (LEP) accommodations within general education classes. However, 440 students who were served in special education classes or students served by English as a Second Language classes exclusively were excluded. Both the MAP researchers and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment data analysis instructions discourage the inclusion of outlying scores as data points (Heinemann, 2020b; Thum & Hauser, 2015). Specifically, students whose reading scores were farther than two standard deviations from grade-level do not fit the parameters of the grade-level MAP norms (Thum & Hauser, 2015). LEP Students who were served by English Language Learning classes were tested with the Spanish MAP test rather than the Primary Reading MAP test. Their scores were excluded also as they were monitored by a different assessment.

### Attendance

The district follows the TEA attendance expectation (TEA, 2018c). I included students who had attended 90% or more of their classes. To qualify for the MAP test norms, students must have 90% attendance. If they did not attend classes, teachers should slide the score scale to the appropriate grade-level their attendance total equals. For example, a school year is 181 days. According to the NWEA guidelines, if a student misses more than 10% of instruction, the teacher should align their score with the lower grade (Thum & Hauser, 2015). Rather than juggle the alignment of norms for students missing instruction, students who attended less than 90% of school days or missed a testing date in the fall or spring were excluded.

# Enrollment

Texas recognizes students enrolled in a teacher's class on October 31st as attributed to the students' growth scores for that teacher. I utilized the same time-marker. If a student was enrolled with a teacher on October 31, 2018, their score was included in the data for that teacher. Even though students moved from one school to another, the October 31st date is the enrollment factor regardless of whether the teacher had opportunity to teach that student or not (TEA, 2020a).

# **Teacher Turnover**

Teachers who taught third grade during the 2018–2019 school year might not have taught the same grade during the 2020–2021 school year. The number of sample teachers were reduced because some had retired or moved to another school district. I depended on the Assessments and Research Department to identify all the teachers who served during that year and ask them to answer the TSES. Their current assignment did not be reflected in any data collected in this project.

# Summary

Educators and researchers see the elements of teachers' efficacy and students' academic growth as parallel in high-quality schools. Addressing diversity, responding to students' needs, providing specific learning opportunities, investing in the collaborative process, and implementing high-quality professional development improve teachers' efficacy (Dixon et al., 2014).

Researchers determined that professional development must include developing classroom routines, addressing students' needs, aligning resources with the district's mission, and cultivating a shared understanding of elements and principles (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Also, districts interested in improving students' educational opportunities looked to the advice of large and small groups to address problems. They celebrated successes intentionally, and they built a culture that supports the differences in students' learning (Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). While cautious deliberation should be followed because other factors could intervene between teacher efficacy and students' reading scores, the district used these ethical, correlative observations to build new avenues of research, professional development, and decision making.
#### **Chapter 4: Results**

This research was undertaken to investigate the overarching research hypothesis that in an urban Texas school district there would be a positive and statistically significant association between third grade English language arts teachers' self-efficacy and the reading scores of their students on two standardized assessments. The fact the study was conducted during the pandemic created serious challenges. One was that whereas the student reading scores were obtained from the 2018–2019 school year, the teacher self-efficacy scores were collected during the 2020–2021 school year. The 2019–2020 and 2020–2021 school years were significantly disrupted by the pandemic, and students were asked to complete the two assessments virtually from their homes, with no supervision. Test specifications for both assessments indicate that the results of these assessments are not valid if students do not take the assessments under supervision and within a controlled environment. In addition, during the 2019–2020 and 2020–2021 school years, many students did not complete the assessments, including a high percentage of minority and at-risk students, who may have been expected to have scored lower on the assessments.

In addition, the research design did not allow an exploration of how teachers' overall emotional and professional perception efficacy may have been influenced because of the pandemic. Also, I experienced difficulty in obtaining a sufficient number of survey responses to assure statistical significance at a 95% confidence level. After consulting with the dissertation committee and receiving its approval, I reduced the confidence level to 90% and was able to obtain enough survey responses to assure statistical significance at the lower confidence level. Four research questions guided the study.

# **Research Questions**

• RQ1: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of

Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?

- H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement scores.
- H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP assessment achievement.
- RQ2: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the high range on the Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.
- RQ3: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES), and the achievement of their third grade students' reading scores on the Primary Reading Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES and the third grade students' Primary Reading MAP reading assessment

achievement scores.

- H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the third grade teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students'
   Primary Reading MAP reading assessment achievement.
- RQ4: Was there a statistically significant association between the scores of third grade teachers in the low range on Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale (TSES) and their achievement third grade students on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment?
  - H<sub>d</sub>: There would be a statistically significant association between the teachers' score on the TSES and third grade students' reading assessment achievement scores on the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment.
  - H<sub>0</sub>: There would not be a statistically significant association between the teachers' scores on the TSES self-efficacy survey and the third grade students' Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading assessment achievement.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

To investigate associations between teacher efficacy and improvement in students' reading skills, I conducted correlational analyses. However, before these correlations were determined, the data were tested for normality to meet the assumption required for Pearson correlation. Each variable was defined as expected if the skewness statistic was less than 2 and the kurtosis statistic was less than 7 (Hair et al., 2010), and if the Q-Q plots appeared normal.

# Results

The null hypothesis was not rejected for each of the four research questions.

Table 2 presents the sample size, mean, and standard deviation for teacher efficacy, change in Fountas & Pinnell scores and change in Measures of Academic Progress scores.

Paired-samples *t* tests showed that third grade reading improved from fall to spring semester for both measures (Fountas & Pinnell *t*(827) = 70.88,  $p < 10^{-16}$  and Measures of Academic Progress  $t(827) = 38.20, p < 10^{-16}$ ).

# Table 2

Descriptive Statistics of Teacher Efficacy and Reading Improvement Scores

Measure	п	М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis
Teacher Efficacy	27	47.50	5.51	1.33	1.93
Fountas & Pinnell	828	2.81	1.14	0.97	1.50
Measures of Academic Progress	828	11.71	8.82	0.27	0.56

*Note.* Figures 1 and 2 show the frequencies of each score for the two semesters.

In Figure 1, most students were at level M at the beginning of the year and Q by the end of the

year. They made appropriate growth after a year of instruction.

# Figure 1

Frequency of Fountas & Pinnell Letter Scores for Each Semester



In Figure 2, third grade students whose RIT score was 175 at the beginning of the year and 195 by the end of the year are reading proficiently.

# Figure 2

Frequency of Measures of Academic Progress Scores for Each Semester





Pearson correlations were conducted on all three measures because they displayed sufficient normality. The correlation between teacher efficacy and Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment improvement was negative but nonsignificant, r = -.04, p = .308. The correlation between teacher efficacy and improvement on Measures of Academic Progress also was not statistically significant, r = -.05, p = .133.

Figures 3 and 4 display the scatter plots between teacher efficacy and the two reading variables. Figure 3 shows the relationship between teacher efficacy scores and the Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment values.

# Figure 3

Teacher Efficacy and Change in Fountas & Pinnell Score



Figure 4 shows the relationship between the teacher efficacy scores and the values for the MAP reading assessment.

# Figure 4





# Summary

In this chapter, the I presented the data from this research study and reviewed analysis procedures. The purpose of this study was to determine if there was a statistically significant association between third grade teachers' self-efficacy and their students' achievement on two standardized reading assessment. The results of the study indicated that there was no statistically significant association between the variables; therefore, I did not reject the null hypothesis for each of the four research questions.

#### **Chapter 5: Interpretations, Conclusions, and Recommendations**

The results of the study contradicted a significant amount of literature which indicated that teacher self-efficacy was positively associated with improved student achievement. The null hypothesis was not rejected for each of the four research questions. The results of the study indicated that there was not a statistically significant association between third grade teachers' self-efficacy and the reading scores of their students on the two standardized assessments. I found several prominent studies which indicated that teachers who believed they were effective in the classroom were, in fact, more likely to have students who made greater educational achievement than students whose teachers questioned their effectiveness in the classroom (Bandura, 2006; Hattie, 2012; Saunders, 2013; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001). Hattie (2012) wrote that teachers' perceptions and actions matter and when teachers realize they, in fact, can support educational equity, they are more likely to develop students who demonstrate greater academic improvement. Rodriquez (2013) equated teachers' perceptions of their effectiveness with their competence and qualifications to teach.

Confident, skilled teachers who improve their instructional practices are able to use a wide variety of interventions to meet students' needs (Hattie, 2012; Tomlinson, 2017a, 2017b). Improved teacher confidence and sense of professional mastery were accompanied by students' success (Dixon et al., 2014; Dubas & Toledo, 2016; Kafele, 2016; Marzano et al., 2017; Terada, 2016). Several studies reported that teachers who believed themselves to be effective were more engaged in the classroom and were better able to assist students to overcome challenges (Çaycı, 2011; De Neve et al., 2015; Dixon et al., 2014).

#### **Threats to Internal Validity**

Because the results of this study contradict a large body of literature as to the association between teacher self-efficacy and improvement in student learning, I reviewed the study with a consideration of possible threats to internal validity. Threats to internal validity of a study refer to actions or events outside of a study that affect the degree to which the dependent variable is affected by manipulation of the independent variable.

Traditional threats to internal validity have included history, maturation, testing, instruments, statistical regression to the mean, differential selection, and mortality. I included an additional threat to the internal validity of the study: the fact that the research was conducted during a pandemic that had pervasive effects on almost every aspect of the educational experience as well as life in general.

## **History**

Researchers define the threat of history on a study's internal validity as the effect historical events can have on research populations (Ranker et al., 2015). According to Ranker et al. (2015), "observed program results may be explained by events or experiences (external) that impact the individual between program participation and follow up" (p. 6). Reis and Judd (2014) wrote that the threat of history on the internal validity of a project as external events that may affect the study. It is likely that the pandemic exerted a powerful effect on both teachers and students. It has been pointed out in a previous chapter that the teachers completed the self-efficacy surveys during the 2020–2021 school year. However, because of the pandemic, I had no choice other than to use student results on the MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell assessment from the 2018–2019 school year, which was the last school year when valid assessment results were available.

# Maturation

A definition of maturation follows: states of being or discrete characteristics that came about independently of the experimental treatment (Reis & Judd, 2014). Other researchers describe maturation as dependent on the growth, development, age, and mental health over time of individuals participating in a research study (Ranker et al., 2015). I do not believe that maturation affected the internal validity of the study.

# Testing

How researchers set up testing and answer any ambiguities is vital to a valid research study (Reis & Judd, 2014). Because of the pandemic, the district operated virtually for long periods of the 2019–2020 and 2020–2021 school years. Teachers completed the self-efficacy survey during the 2020–2021 school year. During the 2019–2020 and 2020–2021 school years, students were asked to complete the MAP assessment and the Fountas & Pinnell assessment virtually, working from home with no supervision. A large percent of students did not complete either assessment. Many of the students who did not complete the assessments were members of groups that historically have underperformed on similar assessments. Therefore, I believe that testing had an impact on the internal validity of the study.

# Instruments

Researchers can limit the threat of instruments affecting validity by using reliable instruments and administering the tests consistently throughout the study (Ranker et al., 2015). Testing procedures and administrations should be limited in time and scope for more valid results (Ranker et al., 2015). I am confident that all instruments used in the study are valid and reliable and did not affect the internal validity of the study.

#### Statistical Regression to the Mean

Regressions to the mean refers to the tendency of research outcomes to move toward the mean over time (Barnett et al., 2005). Researchers can negate the threat of statistical regression to the mean by suitable statistical methods and good study design (Barnett et al., 2005). I do not believe that statistical regression to the mean affected the internal validity of the study.

# **Differential Selection**

When researchers examine the differences between a nonequivalent comparison group versus the group exposed to an assessment, they must guard against differential selection because the difference in scores could reflect the difference between the groups rather than any effect the intervention caused (Price et al., 2021; Ranker et al., 2015) I do not believe that differential selection affected the internal validity of the study.

## *Mortality*

Mortality affects long-running research studies because of the likelihood of subjects' life changes such as moving, significant shifts in availability, or even death (Ranker et al., 2015). The research does not believe that mortality affected the internal validity of the study.

#### **Summary of Findings**

The correlation between teacher efficacy and Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment improvement was negative but nonsignificant. The correlation between teacher efficacy and improvement on Measures of Academic Progress also was not statistically significant. The variables were neither changed nor controlled by the others; they moved independently of each other and there was no strength in the correlation.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

Students' reading scores improved from the fall semester to the spring semester, as seen in the two *t* tests presented at the beginning of the results section in Chapter 4, Figures 1 and 2. Students learned and developed cognitively at appropriate and expected levels.

Tschannen-Moran and Woolfolk Hoy (2006) explained that teachers believed that by teaching effectively, they affected students' learning opportunities. Holzberger et al. (2013) wrote that teachers who felt effective positively affected students' academics. Efficacy was a predictor of quality within three elements: "cognitive activation (the degree of challenge and

engagement that instruction provides students), classroom management (structure and order provided during lessons), and individual learning support (monitoring of the learning process)" (p. 1). Many researchers reported that teacher efficacy was one of the essential components of reading fluency (Roskos & Neuman, 2014; Saunders, 2013; Valiandes, 2015).

The results of the Primary Reading MAP and Fountas & Pinnell Oral Reading Assessment correlated weakly with each other, and it could be the case that they measure different aspects of reading ability. Ultimately, a significant correlation was not found, but a negative correlation is not a limitation of the study because there are many predictors of reading achievement/improvement, and there are different components/aspects of improving reading ability.

In the results, teacher efficacy and the two reading assessments were not significantly correlated in the expected direction. This finding was unexpected because many researchers have commented on the effect of teacher efficacy on students' reading scores. I was able to find few studies that questioned the effect of teacher self-efficacy on student achievement. However, Sture (2014) wrote,

Although the (research) findings affirmed those from previous research showing a positive relationship between teacher self-efficacy and instructional quality, the longitudinal analysis revealed only partial support for the view that self-efficacy is a predictor as well as] an outcome of instructional quality. (p. 14)

I believed that because of the disruption created by the pandemic, several threats to internal validity affected the study result as has been explained earlier in this chapter.

## **Implications of Findings**

The focus of this research is on the importance of teacher efficacy. A significant amount of research suggests teacher efficacy is associated with students' improved achievement. I

believe that because of the disruption created by the pandemic in all aspects of not only education but life in general, several threats to internal validity affected the study results as was explained earlier in this chapter and may explain why the results of this study contradict most of the literature on this subject.

#### Limitations and Delimitations of the Study

The primary limitation of this study was that it was conducted during a once in a century pandemic, which disrupted every aspect of the educational experience and life in general and created several serious threats to the internal validity of the study that have already been discussed in this chapter. Other delimitations to the study included the small sample size, delimiting the study to one grade in one district, and delimiting the study to a quantitative only approach.

# **Recommendations for Future Research**

Developing a thorough understanding of the association between teacher efficacy and student achievement is vital if educators want to maximize student development and growth. I see the need to conduct similar studies in the future and has three recommendations for future research.

- 1. Repeat the study during nonpandemic conditions.
- 2. Repeat the study on a larger scale and in school districts of varying student compositions and social-economic groups.
- 3. Add a qualitative component to the study, including semistructured teacher interviews and a teacher focus group with the expectation that a mixed method approach would produce a richer understanding of the research topic.

## References

Allison, M. (1999). Enriching your practice with complex systems thinking. *OD Practitioner*, *32*(2), 11–22.

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.603.9080&rep=rep1&type=pd f

- Altintas, E., & Ozdemir, A. S. (2015). Evaluating a newly developed differentiation approach in terms of student achievement and teachers' opinions. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 15, 1103–1118. <u>https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2015.4.2540</u>
- Armbruster, B. B., Lehr, F., & Osborn, J. (2001). Put reading first: The research building blocks for teaching children to read: Kindergarten through grade 3. National Institute for Literacy. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/?fulltext/ED458536.pdf</u>
- Armstrong, T. (2018). *Multiple intelligences in the classroom* (4th ed.). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Ayala, E. M. (2017). Education: Dallas-area schools struggling more with reading than math, according to STAAR results. *Dallas Morning News*. <u>https://www.dallasnews.com/news/education/2017/07/13/dallas-area-schools-strugglingreading-math-according-staar-results</u>

- Ball, D. L., & Forzani, M. (2013). Building a common core for learning to teach: And connecting professional learning to practice. *American Educator*, 35(2), 17–21. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ931211.pdf</u>
- Ball, C. R., & O'Connor, E. (2016). Predictive utility and classification accuracy of oral reading fluency and the measures of academic progress for the Wisconsin Knowledge and Concepts Exam. *Assessment for Effective Intervention*, *41*(4), 195. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534508415620107

Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2802\_3</u>

Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents (pp. 307–337). Information Age Publishing. <u>https://www.uky.edu/~eushe2/Bandura/BanduraGuide2006.pdf</u>

Barnett, A. G., Van der Pols, J. C., & Dobson, A. J. (2005). Regression to the mean: What it is and how to deal with it. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 34(1), 215–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/IJE/DYH299</u>

- Barni, D., Danioni, F., & Benevene, P. (2019). Teachers' self-efficacy: The role of personal values and motivations for teaching. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1645. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01645</u>
- Basham, J. D., Israel, M., Graden, J., Poth, R., & Winston, M. (2010). A comprehensive approach to RTI: Embedding universal design for learning and technology. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 33(4), 243–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/073194871003300403</u>

Bedir, G. (2015). Perception of teaching efficacy by primary and secondary school teachers. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 8(1), 41–54. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1078840.pdf</u>

Begeny, J., Ross, S., Greene, D., Mitchell, R., & Whitehouse, M. (2012). Effects of the helping early literacy with practice strategies (HELPS) reading fluency program with Latino English language learners: A preliminary evaluation. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 21(2), 134–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-011-9144-7</u>

Benton, S. L., & Li, D. (2015). Teaching methods associated with student progress in general education courses. *IDEA research report #9*.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED573676.pdf

Bines, H., & Lei, P. (2011). Disability and education: The longest road to inclusion. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 31(5), 419–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2011.04.009</u>

- Bippert, K., & Harmon, J. (2017). Middle school teachers' perceptions of computer-assisted reading intervention programs. *Reading Psychology*, 38(2), 203–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2016.1245691</u>
- Bird, J. J., Dunaway, D. M., Hancock, D. R., & Wang, C. (2013). The superintendent's leadership role in school improvement: Relationships between authenticity and best practices. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 12(1), 77–99.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2013.766348

Blackstone, A. (2018). *Principles of sociological inquiry: Qualitative and quantitative methods*. Open Textbook Library. <u>https://openlibrary-</u>

repo.ecampusontario.ca/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/296/Principles%20of%20Soc iological%20Inquiry.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Boone, W. J. (2016). Rasch analysis for instrument development: Why, when, and how? *CBE Life Sciences Education*, *15*(4), rm4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.16-04-0148</u>
- Buchsbaum, M. (2013). Longitudinal growth of academic achievement among subgroups using NWEA's MAP (UMI No. 3562114) [Doctoral dissertation, Northern Arizona University]
   ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED553687pdf</u>
- Carr, J. (2012). Strategies for teaching English learners and students with learning disabilities. *Working with Challenging Students*, 8(2). <u>http://www.ascd.org/ascd-express/vol8/802-</u> <u>carr.aspx</u>
- Çaycı, B. (2011). The relationship between the elementary teacher candidates' teacher efficacy and their attitudes towards the profession of teaching. *Education*, *132*(2), 402–418.

https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA278759338&sid=googleScholar&v=2.1&it=r &linkaccess=abs&issn=00131172&p=AONE&sw=w

- Center for Applied Research. (2019). *Research brief: Fountas & Pinnell Benchmark Assessment System*. Center for Applied Research, University of Minnesota. <u>https://www.cehd.umn.edu/carei/documents/LiteracyAssessmentsResearchReview2.19.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Chávez, S. M., Zeeble, B., Evans, M., Robinson, C., & Bowers, J. (2018). *The race to save failing schools: North Texas schools on the "improvement required" list face mounting pressure to meet state standards*. KERA News. <u>http://stories.kera.org/saving-schools/</u>
- Cheprasov, A. (2018). What is a correlational study? Definition & examples. *Study.com*. <u>https://study.com/academy/lesson/what-is-a-correlational-study-definition-</u> <u>examples.html#:~:text=A%20correlational%20study%20is%20a,if%20so%2C%20in%20</u> <u>what%20way</u>
- Ciccarelli, M. C. (2017, March 1). Setting the example (121624325). 34. *Literary Reference Center*.
- Coubergs, C., Struyven, K., Vanthournout, G., & Engels, N. (2017, June). Measuring teachers' perceptions about differentiated instruction: The DI-Quest instrument and model. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *53*, 41–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2017.02.004</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage.
- De Neve, D., Devos, G., & Tuytens, M. (2015). The importance of job resources and selfefficacy for beginning teachers' professional learning in differentiated instruction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 30–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2014.12.003</u>

DiPaola, M. (2011). Leading research in educational administration: A festschrift for Wayne K. Hoy. International Journal of Educational Management, 31(7), 1147–1149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-06-2013-0089</u>

Dixon, F. A., Yssel, N., McConnell, J. M., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 37(2), 111–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042</u>

Donohoo, J., Hattie, J., & Ellis, R. (2018). The power of collective efficacy: Leading the energized school. *Educational Leadership*, 75(6), 40–44.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1171558.pdf

Dougherty, E., & Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. (2012). *Assignments matter: Making the connections that help students meet standards.* Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. http://www.ascd.org/Publications/Books/Overview/Assignments-Matter.aspx

Dubas, J. M., & Toledo, S. A. (2016). Taking higher order thinking seriously: Using Marzano's taxonomy in the economics classroom. *International Review of Economics Education*, 21, 12–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iree.2015.10.005</u>

DuFour, R. (2015). How PLCs do data right. *Educational Leadership*, 73(3), 22–26. <u>https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/how-plcs-do-data-right</u>

Dunlosky, J., Rawson, K. A., Marsh, E. J., Nathan, M. J., & Willingham, D. T. (2013).
Improving students' learning with effective learning techniques: Promising directions from cognitive and educational psychology. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 14(1), 4–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100612453266</u>

Edglossary. (2019a). Achievement growth. *The Glossary of Education Reform*. https://www.edglossary.org/achievement-growth/

Edglossary. (2019b). Standardized test definition. *The Glossary of Education Reform*. https://www.edglossary.org/standardized-test/

Eklund, K., Kilgus, S., von der Embse, N., Beardmore, M., & Tanner, N. (2017). Use of universal screening scores to predict distal academic and behavioral outcomes: A multilevel approach. *Psychological Assessment*, 29(5), 486–499.

https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000355

- Every Student Succeeds Act, 20 U.S.C \_\_ 6301 (2015). https://www.congress.gov.114/plaws/publ95/PLAW-114pub195.pdf
- Faber, J. M., Luyten, H., & Visscher, A. J. (2017). The effects of a digital formative assessment tool on mathematics achievement and student motivation: Results of a randomized experiment. *Computers & Education*, 106, 83–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.001

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using SPSS (4th ed.). Sage.

Fountas & Pinnell Text Level Gradient. (2020). Fountas & Pinnell Literacy.

https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/textlevelgradient/

- Form Plus Blog. (2020). *Correlational research designs: Types, examples, and methods*. FormPl.us.com. <u>https://www.formpl.us/blog/correlational-research</u>
- Gelzheiser, L. M., Scanlon, D. M., Hallgren-Flynn, L., & Connors, P. (2019). Comprehensive reading intervention in grades 3-8: Fostering word learning, comprehension, and motivation. Guilford Press.
- George Mason University. (2020). *Stats simplified*. <u>https://flexiblelearning.auckland.ac.nz/data-</u> to-insight/4/1/2/files/4\_5\_stats\_causation\_vs\_correlation.pdf

- Goddard, Y. L., & Kim, M. (2018). Examining connections between teacher perceptions of collaboration, differentiated instruction, and teacher efficacy. *Teachers College Record*, *120*(1), 1–24. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1162812.pdf</u>
- Gómez-Zepeda, G., Petreñas, C., Sabando, D., & Puigdellívol, I. (2017). The role of the support and attention to diversity teacher (SADT) from a community-based perspective:
  Promoting educational success and educational inclusion for all. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 64, 127–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.002</u>
- Guskey, T. R. (2020). Flip the script on change: Experience shapes teachers' attitudes and beliefs. *Educational, School, and Counseling Psychology Faculty Publications*, 41(2). <u>https://uknowledge.uky.edu/edp\_facpub/45</u>
- Hair, J., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Pearson Educational International.
- Hamman, L. D. (2014). *Exploring differentiated teaching in a grade 4 classroom* [Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University]. Networked Digital Library of Theses & Dissertations. <u>https://doi.org/10019.1.86364</u>
- Harrison, M. (2009). Organizational diagnosis and assessment: Bridging theory and practice (2nd ed.). Sage. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858.n10</u>

Hattie, J. (2012). Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning. Routledge.

- Heinemann Publishing. (2020a). *Behavior management during running records*. Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/forum/messages?TopicID=3915
- Heinemann Publishing. (2020b). Fountas & Pinnell: Online Data Management System (ODMS). Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. <u>https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/</u>

- Heinemann Publishing. (2020c). *Fountas & Pinnell Reading Levels*. Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. <u>https://www.heinemann.com/fountasandpinnell/handouts/instructionallevelexpectationsfo</u> <u>rreading.pdf</u>
- Heinemann Publishing. (2020d). Fountas & Pinnell: Benchmark Assessment System. Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. <u>https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/research/bas/</u>
- Heinemann Publishing. (2020e). *Fountas & Pinnell: Interventions*. Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. <u>https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/intervention/</u>
- Heinemann Publishing. (2020f). *Fountas & Pinnell: Literacy*. Fountas & Pinnell Literacy. <u>https://www.fountasandpinnell.com/</u>
- Herrmann, Z. (2019, July). Cooperate or collaborate. *Educational Leadership*, 76(9). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. <u>http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/jul19/vol76/num09/Cooperate-</u> or-Collaborate%C2%A2.aspx
- Holzberger, D., Philipp, A., & Kunter, M. (2013). How teachers' self-efficacy is related to instructional quality: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(3), 774–786. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032198</u>
- Hsiao, C. C., & Chiou, J. S. (2017). The social influence of online collaborative community: The moderating effect of achievement. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 36(3), 269–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2016.1221463</u>
- January, S. A., & Ardoin, S. P. (2015). Technical adequacy and acceptability of curriculumbased measurement and the measures of academic progress. *Assessment for Effective Intervention*, 41(1), 3–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534508415579095</u>
- Kafele, B. K. (2013). *Closing the attitude gap: How to fire up your students to strive for success*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- Kafele, B. K. (2016). *The teacher 50: Critical questions for inspiring excellence*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Klein, A. (2015). No child left behind: An overview. *Education Week*. <u>https://www.edweek.org/ew/section/multimedia/no-child-left-behind-overview-</u> <u>definition-summary.html</u>
- Koehler, S. (2010). Effects of differentiating for readiness, interest and learning profile on engagement and understanding. Mathematical and Computing Sciences Masters. Paper 91. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/48615663.pdf</u>
- Kontrovourki, S. (2012). Reading leveled books in assessment-saturated classrooms: A close examination of unmarked processes of assessment. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 47(2), 153–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/RRQ.014</u>
- Kuhn, M., Schwanenflugel, P., Meisinger, E., Levy, B., & Rasinski, T. (2010). Aligning theory and assessment of reading fluency: Automaticity, prosody, and definitions of fluency. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 45(2), 230–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.45.2.4</u>
- Laerd Statistics. (2018). *Pearson product-moment correlation*. Lund Research. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/statistical-guides/pearson-correlation-coefficient-statistical-guide.php</u>
- Lau F. (2017). Methods for correlational studies. In Lau, F., & Kuziemsky, C. (Eds.) Handbook of eHealth Evaluation: An Evidence-based approach. University of Victoria. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK481614/</u>
- Lawrence-Brown, D., & Sapon-Shevin, M. (2015). *Condition critical: Key principles for equitable and inclusive schooling*. Teachers College Press.

Lee, A. (2019). *Instructional intervention: What you need to know*. Understood.Org. <u>https://www.understood.org/en/learning-thinking-differences/treatments-</u> <u>approaches/educational-strategies/instructional-intervention-what-you-need-to-know</u>

- Lemov, D. (2015). *Teach like a champion 2.0: 62 techniques that put students on the path to college*. Jossey-Bass.
- Levent, F. (2011). The rights of families with a gifted child. *Arti Egitim Magazine*, 83(7), 44. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1103336.pdf</u>
- Levy, H. (2008). Meeting the needs of all students through differentiated instruction: Helping every child reach and exceed standards. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 81(4), 161–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.3200/TCHS.81.4.161-164</u>
- Lourenco, G. F., Goncalves, A. F., & Elias, N. C. (2015). Differentiated instructional strategies and assistive technology in Brazil: Are we talking about the same subject? *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, *3*(11), 891–896.
  - https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1081479.pdf
- Marzano, R. J., Norford, J. S., Finn M., & Finn, D., III. (2017) *A handbook for personalized competency-based education*. Marzano Research.
- Marzano, R. J., Pickering, D., & Pollock, J. (2012). *Classroom instruction that works*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Merino, K., & Beckman, T. O. (2010). Using reading curriculum-based measurements as predictors for the Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) standardized test in Nebraska. *International Journal of Psychology: A Biopsychosocial Approach*, (6), 85–98.
   <u>https://www.vdu.lt/cris/bitstream/20.500.12259/32188/1/ISSN2345-</u>024X\_2010\_V\_6.PG\_85-98.pdf

Merriam-Webster Dictionary. (2020). *Exigency*. Merriam-Webster's Dictionary. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/exigency?utm\_campaign=sd&utm\_m</u> <u>edium=serp&utm\_source=jsonld</u>

Morgan, H. (2014). Maximizing student success with differentiated learning. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 87(1), 34–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2013.832130

Moyer, E. L., Galindo, J. L., & Dodd, B. G. (2012). Balancing flexible constraints and measurement precision in computerized adaptive testing. *Educational & Psychological Measurement*, 72(4), 629–648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164411431838</u>

Muijs, D. (2011). Doing quantitative research in education with SPSS (2nd ed.). Sage.

Nicolae, M. (2014). Teachers' beliefs as the differentiated instruction starting point: Research basis. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *128*, 426–431.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.182

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2015a). *NWEA FAQ: RIT scale norms* (ED568277). ERIC. <u>http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED568277</u>

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2015b). 2015 NWEA measures of academic progress normative data.

http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED568352

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2015c). *Comparative data to inform instructional decisions:* 2015 comparative data.

http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED567835 Northwest Evaluation Association. (2016). *Linking the Texas STAAR assessments to NWEA* 

MAP tests.

https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2016/02/Texas\_Linking\_Study\_FEB2016.pdf

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2017a). Home page. http://nwea.org

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2017b). NWEA: Portrait partnership.

https://www.nwea.org/blog/2017/portrait-partnership-using-assessment-assessment-datadrive-student-growth/

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2017c, July). NWEA: Accommodation reports.

https://community.nwea.org/docs/DOC-2162

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2017d, July). NWEA: Accommodation tools.

https://community.nwea.org/docs/DOC-1585

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2018a). *Measure of academic progress: A comprehensive guide to the MAP K–12 computer adaptive interim assessment.* 

https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2014/07/Comprehensive-Guide-to-MAP-K-12-

Computer-Adaptive-Interim-Assessment

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2018b). NWEA: Accountability and accommodations.

https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2015/11/NWEA-Accessibility-and-

Accommodations-External-FAQ-JUL17.pdf

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2018c). NWEA: Assessments, growth.

https://www.nwea.org/map-growth/

Office for Human Research Protections. (2016). 45 CFR 46.

<u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html</u> Ohio State University. (2014). *Bandura's instrument: Teacher self-efficacy survey*. <u>https://cpb-</u>

us-w2.wpmucdn.com/u.osu.edu/dist/2/5604/files/2014/09/Bandura-Instr-1sdm5sg.pdf

Parker, D. C., Zaslofsky, A. F., Burns, M. K., Kanive, R., Hodgson, J., Scholin, S. E., & Klingbeil, D. A. (2015). A brief report of the diagnostic accuracy of oral reading fluency and reading inventory levels for reading failure risk among second- and third-grade students. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, *31*, 56–67.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2013.857970

- Parker Boudett, K., City, E. A., & Murnane, R. J. (Eds.). (2013). Data wise, revised and expanded edition: A step-by-step guide to using assessment results to improve teaching and learning. Harvard Education Press.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice*. Abilene Library Consortium Catalog.
- Peng, P., & Goodrich, J. M. (2020). The cognitive element model of reading instruction. *International Literacy Association*, 55(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.336</u>
- Piedad, J. (2018). Standardized testing: The stakes are high for Texas students, teachers, schools. Texas Public Radio. <u>https://www.tpr.org/post/standardized-testing-stakes-are-high-texas-students-teachers-schools</u>
- Price, P. C., Jhangiani, R. S., Chiang, I. A., Leighton, D. C., & Cuttler, C. (2021). 8.2 Nonequivalent group designs. *Research Methods in Psychology*, 3. <u>https://opentext.wsu.edu/carriecuttler/chapter/nonequivalent-control-group-designs/</u>
- Raise Your Hand Texas. (2020). *Misconceptions: Schools don't spend wisely*. Raise Your Hand Texas. <u>https://www.raiseyourhandtexas.org/stories/misconception-mondays-part-ii/</u>
- Ranker, L., DeJong, W., & Schadt, R. (2015). Massachusetts public health modules: Program evaluation. Office of Teaching & Digital Learning Boston University School of Public Health. <u>https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-modules/ProgramEvaluation/Program</u> <u>Evaluation6.html</u>

- Rattan, A., Savani, K., Chugh, D., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Leveraging mindsets to promote academic achievement policy recommendations. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(6), 721–726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691615599383</u>
- Ready, D. D. (2013). Associations between student achievement and student learning:
  Implications for value-added school accountability models, *Educational Policy*, 27(1), 92–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904811429289</u>
- Reis, H. T., & Judd, C. M. (Eds.). (2014). Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press.
- Rodriquez, V. (2013). The potential of systems thinking in teacher reform as theorized for the teaching brain framework. *International Mind, Brain, and Education Society*, 7(2), 77–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12013</u>
- Rogat, T. K., & Adams-Wiggins, K. R. (2015). Interrelation between regulatory and socioemotional processes within collaborative groups characterized by facilitative and directive other-regulation. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 52, 589–600.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.026

- Roskos, K., & Neuman, S. B. (2014). Best practices in reading. *Reading Teacher*, 67(7), 507–511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1248</u>
- Rytivaara, A., & Vehkakoski, T. (2015). What is individual in individualized instruction? Five storylines of meeting individual needs at school. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 73, 12–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2015.09.002</u>
- Saunders, S. A. (2013). The impact of a growth mindset intervention on the reading achievement of at-risk adolescent students [Doctoral dissertation, University of Virginia]. https://libraetd.lib.virginia.edu/public\_view/9z9030159

Sekulowicz, M., & Sekulowicz, A. (2015). The special education system in Poland: From segregation to inclusion. *Journal of the International Association of Special Education*, 16(1), 4–13.

https://web.a.ebscohost.com/abstract?site=ehost&scope=site&jrnl=15556913&AN=1189 00046&h=QxpkPOOy1K3UeyedoppLnw7N%2f67hFUWGtyf7a7lDfHuk0yDEiHfnh3V PI6amxpH27pqimsGAGLpqCPR4QJuCBg%3d%3d&crl=c&resultLocal=ErrCrlNoResul ts&resultNs=Ehost&crlhashurl=login.aspx%3fdirect%3dtrue%26profile%3dehost%26sc ope%3dsite%26authtype%3dcrawler%26jrnl%3d15556913%26AN%3d118900046

- Senge, P. (1990). The fifth discipline. Doubleday.
- Senge, P. (2006). *The fifth discipline. The art and practice of the learning organization.* Doubleday.
- Shanahan, T. (2013). Letting the text take center stage: How the Common Core State Standards will transform English Language Arts instruction. *American Educator*, 37(3), 4–11, 43. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1021044.pdf</u>
- Siry, C., Brendel, M., & Frisch, R. (2016). Radical listening and dialogue in educational research. *International Journal of Critical Pedagogy*, 7(3), 119–135. <u>http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ijcp/article/download/1322/1018</u>
- Smit, R., & Humpert, W. (2012). Differentiated instruction in small schools. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 28(8), 1152–1162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.07.003</u>
- Sture, J. A. (2014). An exploration of teacher efficacy for the literacy instruction of struggling readers [Doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta]. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/56378698.pdf</u>

Survey System. (2020). *Sample size calculator*. <u>https://www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm</u> Teach-nology.com. (2019). *Criterion-referenced test versus norm-referenced tests*. http://www.teach-nology.com/edleadership/assessment/crittests.html

Terada, Y. (2016). *RtI Action Network: Response to intervention: Improving education for all students*. <u>https://www.edutopia.org/blog/response-to-intervention-resources-youki-terada</u>

Texas Classrooms Teachers' Association. (2020). Class size. https://tcta.org/node/13125

Texas Education Agency. (2015). English language arts and reading TEKS review.

https://tea.texas.gov/Academics/English\_TEKS\_Review/

Texas Education Agency. (2018a). *State Board of Education to set long-range educational* goals. <u>https://tea.texas.gov/SBOE/long-range\_plan</u>

Texas Education Agency. (2018b). Testing and accountability.

https://tea.texas.gov/Student\_Testing\_and\_Accountability/

Texas Education Agency. (2018c). Texas accountability.

https://rptsvr1.tea.texas.gov/perfreport/account/2016/srch.html?srch=C

Texas Education Agency. (2019a). 2018 Accountability rating system.

https://tea.texas.gov/2018Accountability.asp

Texas Education Agency. (2019b). Texas ESSA State Plan final PDF.

https://tea.texas.gov/sites/default/files/ESSA%20State%20Plan%20Oct%2014%202019.p df

Texas Education Agency. (2020). *Maximum class size exceptions*. <u>https://tea.texas.gov/texas-schools/waivers/state-waivers/maximum-class-size-exceptions</u>

Texas Education Agency. (2020a). Reports and data: School and district type data search. <u>https://tea.texas.gov/reports-and-data/school-data/campus-and-district-type-data-search</u> Texas Education Agency. (2020b). School data. <u>https://tea.texas.gov/reports-and-data/school-data</u> Texas Education Agency. (2020c). Student accountability.

https://rptsvr1.tea.texas.gov/cgi/sas/broker?\_service=marykay&\_debug=0&single=N&ba tch=N&app=PUBLIC&ptype=H&\_program=perfrept.perfmast.sas&level=district&searc h=distnum&namenum=057903&prgopt=2019/tapr/performance.sas

- Thum, Y. M. (2015). The effective use of student and school descriptive indicators of learning progress: From the conditional growth index to the learning productivity measurement system. In R. W. Lissitz & H. Jiao (Eds.), *Value added modeling and growth modeling with particular application to teacher and school effectiveness* (pp. 237–270). Information Age.
- Thum, Y. M., & Hauser, C. (2015). 2015 MAP norms for student and school achievement status and growth. <u>https://www.nwea.org/research-publications/#ufh-i-409094334-2015-map-</u> norms-for-student-and-school-achievement-status-and-growth
- Tindal, G., Nese, J. F., Farley, D., Saven, J. L., & Elliott, S. N. (2016). Documenting reading achievement and growth for students taking alternate assessments. *Exceptional Children*, 82(3), 321–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402915585492</u>
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2017a). *How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms* (3rd ed.). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2017b). *How to differentiate instruction in mixed-ability classrooms* (3rd ed.). Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & Moon, T. R. (2013). Assessment and student success in a differentiated classroom. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & Murphy, M. (2015). Leading for differentiation: Growing teachers who grow kids. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. http://www.ascd.org/Publications/Books/Overview/Leading-for-Differentiation.aspx

- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Johnson, D. (2011). Exploring literacy teachers' self-efficacy beliefs: Potential sources at play. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(4), 751–761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2010.12.005</u>
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). *Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct*. <u>https://doi.org/PII:S0742-051X(01)00036-1</u>
- Valenzano, J. M., III, & Wallace, S. P. (2014). Reforming general education: A departmental experience with mission and assessment. *International Journal of Educational Reform*, 23(2), 98–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105678791402300201</u>
- Valiandes, S. (2015). Evaluating the impact of differentiated instruction on literacy and reading in mixed ability classrooms: Quality and equity dimensions of education effectiveness. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 45, 17–26.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.02.005

Varghese, C., Garwood, J. D., Bratsch-Hines, M., & Vernon-Feagans, L. (2016). Exploring magnitude of change in teacher efficacy and implications for students' literacy growth. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 55, 228–239.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.01.011

Wiggins, G. P. (2015). What is understanding by design?

http://authenticeducation.org/ubd/ubd.lasso

- Wiggins, G. P., & McTighe, J. (2012). The understanding by design guide to advanced concepts in creating and reviewing units. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Wong, H. K., Wong, R. T., Jondahl, S. F., & Ferguson, O. F. (2014). *The classroom management book*. Abilene Library Consortium Catalog. <u>https://www.effectiveteaching.com/</u>

Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2020). Anita Woolfolk Hoy: Instruments.

https://anitawoolfolkhow.com/research/instruments/

- Woolfolk Hoy, A., & Burke Sperob, R. (2005). Changes in teacher efficacy during the early years of teaching: A comparison of four measures. *School of Education Policy and Leadership*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2005.01.007</u>
- Wu, E. H. (2017). Paving the way for differentiated instruction in rural classrooms under common core state standards: An interview with Carolyn Callahan. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 28(1), 51–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X16683646</u>

# **Appendix A: Author Permission to Use TSES**



ANITA WOOLFOLK HOY, PH.D.

PROFESSOR PSYCHOLOGICAL STUDIES IN EDUCATION

Dear

You have my permission to use the *Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale* in your research. A copy the scoring instructions can be found at:

http://u.osu.edu/hoy.17/research/instruments/

Best wishes in your work,

anita Woolfolk Hoy

Anita Woolfolk Hoy, Ph.D. Professor Emeritus

# Appendix B: Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale

# Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale<sup>1</sup> (short form)

Teacher Beliefs How much can yo				ou	do?					
	Directions: This questionnaire is designed to help us gain a better understanding of the kinds of things that create difficulties for teachers in their school activities. Please indicate your opinion about each of the statements below. Your answers are confidential.	Nothing		Very Little		Some Influence		Quite A Bit		A Great Deal
1.	How much can you do to control disruptive behavior in the classroom?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
2.	How much can you do to motivate students who show low interest in school work?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
3.	How much can you do to get students to believe they can do well in school work?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	<mark>(</mark> 9)
4.	How much can you do to help your students value learning?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
5.	To what extent can you craft good questions for your students?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
6.	How much can you do to get children to follow classroom rules?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
7.	How much can you do to calm a student who is disruptive or noisy?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
8.	How well can you establish a classroom management system with each group of students?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	<mark>(</mark> 9)
9.	How much can you use a variety of assessment strategies?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
10.	To what extent can you provide an alternative explanation or example when students are confused?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	<mark>(9)</mark>
11.	How much can you assist families in helping their children do well in school?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
12.	How well can you implement alternative strategies in your classroom?	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)

# Appendix C: Directions for Scoring the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale

Developers: Meghan Tschannen-Moran, College of William and Mary Anita Woolfolk How, the Ohio State University

# **Construct Validity**

For information on the construct validity of the Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale, see: Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 783-805.

#### **Factor Analysis**

It is important to conduct a factor analysis to determine how your participants respond to the questions. We have consistently found three moderately correlated factors: *Efficacy in Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Practices,* and *Efficacy in Classroom Management,* but at times the make up the scales varies slightly. With preservice teachers we recommend that the full 24-item scale (or 12-item short form) be used because the factor structure often is less distinct for these respondents.

# **Subscale Scores**

To determine the *Efficacy in Student Engagement, Efficacy in Instructional Practices*, and *Efficacy in Classroom Management* subscale scores, we compute unweighted means of the items that load on each factor. Generally, these groupings are:

# Long Form

Efficacy in Student Engagement: Efficacy in Instructional Strategies: Efficacy in Classroom Management:

#### **Short Form**

Items 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 12, 14, 22 Items 7, 10, 11, 17, 18, 20, 23, 24 Items 3, 5, 8, 13, 15, 16, 19, 21

Efficacy in	Student Engagement:
Efficacy in	Instructional Strategies:
Efficacy in	Classroom Management:

Items 2, 3, 4, 11 Items 5, 9, 10, 12 Items 1, 6, 7, 8

# Reliabilities

In Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*, 783-805, the following were found:

# Table C1

	Long Form			Short Form			
	Mean	SD	alpha	Mean	SD	alpha	
TSES (OSTES)	7.1	.94	.94	7.1	.98	.90	
Engagement	7.3	1.1	.87	7.2	1.2	.81	
Instruction	7.3	1.1	.91	7.3	1.2	.86	
Management	6.7	1.1	.90	6.7	1.2	.86	

Reliability and Validity of Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale

*Note*. Because this instrument was developed at the Ohio State University, it is sometimes referred to as the *Ohio State Teacher Efficacy Scale* (OSTES). We prefer the name, *Teachers' Sense of Efficacy Scale* (TSES).
## **Appendix D: IRB Approval**

## ABILENE CHRISTIAN UNIVERSITY

Educating Students for Christian Service and Leadership Throughout the World

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs 320 Hardin Administration Building, ACU Box 29103, Abilene, Texas 79699-9103 325-674-2885

January 22, 2021

Ruth E. Schackmann Department of Organizational Leadership Abilene Christian University

Dear Ruth,

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board, I am pleased to inform you that your project titled "A Study of the Association of Teacher Efficacy and Students' Growth and Achievement in a North Texas School District",

(IRB# 21-008 ) is exempt from review under Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects.

If at any time the details of this project change, please resubmit to the IRB so the committee can determine whether or not the exempt status is still applicable.

I wish you well with your work.

Sincerely,

Megan Roth

Megan Roth, Ph.D. Director of Research and Sponsored Programs 462